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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER

Note EUR million 2022 2021

	 Equity and liabilities
10, 11 Equity

Share capital  30.2 29.9

Share premium  38.4 45.8

Reserves  152.7 132.9

Retained earnings  (46.3) 14.4

Total equity1  175.0 223.0 

 

Liabilities

12 Loans and borrowings  166.6 136.4

13 Employee benefits  10.7 14.0

4 Deferred tax liabilities  17.5 17.7

15 Provisions  0.7 0.9

Total non-current liabilities  195.5 169.0

8 Bank overdraft  3.1 6.1

12 Loans and borrowings  8.4 6.7

15 Provisions  1.3 1.2

Current tax liabilities  10.3 6.0

16 Contract liabilities  4.7 4.5

17 Trade and other payables  78.3 74.3

Total current liabilities  106.1 98.8

Total liabilities  301.6 267.8

Total equity and liabilities  476.6 490.8 

 

Note EUR million 2022 2021

	 Assets
Non-current assets

1 Property, plant and equipment  131.6 121.9

2 Intangible assets  126.5 183.4

3 Other investments, including 

derivatives  0.4 0.4

4 Deferred tax assets  19.7 18.3

5 Contract costs  0.3 0.5

Total non-current assets  278.5 324.5 

Current assets

6 Inventories  85.1 79.7

Current tax assets  2.8 2.7

7 Trade and other receivables  70.5 65.3

8 Cash and cash equivalents  37.8 18.6

9 Assets classified as held for sale  1.9 –

Total current assets  198.1 166.3 

Total assets  476.6 490.8 

1 	 Equity is attributable to owners of the company as non-controlling interests are not applicable. 
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1 	 This item will never be reclassified to profit or loss. 
2 	 These items may be reclassified to profit or loss. 
3 	 All profits are attributable to owners of the company as non-controlling interests are not applicable.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note EUR million 2022 2021

Other comprehensive income

4 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans1  1.5 0.5

Foreign currency translation differences for  

foreign operations2  1.8 7.8

18

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges,  

net of income tax2  1.6 0.1 

Other comprehensive income for the period,  

net of income tax

 

 4.9 

  

8.4

Total comprehensive income for the period3  (41.4) 22.8 

11 Basic earnings per share (EUR),  

based on weighted average  (3.09) 0.97

11 Basic earnings per share (EUR),  

based on weighted average (diluted)  (3.05) 0.97

Note EUR million 2022 2021

22 Revenue  519.3 464.0

24 Other income  0.5 0.2

Total revenue and other income  519.8 464.2 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work  

in progress  1.8 (3.5)

Raw materials and subcontracted work  268.7 241.9

25 Staff costs  153.6 138.1

Depreciation and amortization  28.0 27.8

1,2 Impairments of fixed assets  58.7 3.5

26 Other operating expenses 43.6 32.5

Result before net finance costs  (34.6) 23.9 

27 Finance income  0.0 0.0

27 Finance expense  (5.1) (3.7)

Share profit or loss of an associate  –  (0.1)

Profit before income tax  (39.7) 20.1 

28, 29 Income tax expense  (6.6) (5.7)

Profit for the period  (46.3) 14.4 
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Note

 

EUR million

Share  

capital

Share  

premium

Translation  

reserve

Hedge  

reserve

Reserve for  

own shares

Other  

reserves

Retained 

 earnings

Total  

equity

Balance at 1 January 2021  29.9 51.7  (0.2) 0.1 (3.4) 121.0 4.3 203.4 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss – – – – – – 14.4 14.4

Other comprehensive income

13 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans – – – – – 0.5 – 0.5

Foreign currency translation differences  

for foreign operations – – 7.8 – – – – 7.8

10 Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges,  

net of income tax – – – 0.1 – – – 0.1

Other comprehensive income for the period,  

net of income tax

 

– 

 

– 

 

7.8 

 

0.1 

 

– 

 

0.5 

 

– 

 

8.4 

Total comprehensive income for the period  –  – 7.8 0.1 – 0.5 14.4 22.8 

Transactions with owners, recorded  

directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

10 Issue of ordinary shares 0.0 0.0 – – – – – 0.0

Own shares issued – – – – 1.4 0.2 – 1.6

Share-based payment transactions – – – – 0.1 1.0 – 1.1

10 Dividends to equity holders – (5.9) – – – – – (5.9)

10 Appropriation of retained earnings – – – – – 4.3 (4.3) –

Balance at 31 December 2021 29.9 45.8 7.6 0.2 (1.9) 127.0 14.4 223.0 
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Note

 

EUR million

Share  

capital

Share  

premium

Translation  

reserve

Hedge  

reserve

Reserve for  

own shares

Other  

reserves

Retained 

 earnings

Total  

equity

Balance at 1 January 2022 29.9 45.8 7.6 0.2 (1.9) 127.0 14.4 223.0 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss – – – – – –  (46.3)  (46.3) 

Other comprehensive income

13 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans – – – – –  1.5 –  1.5 

Foreign currency translation differences  

for foreign operations – –  1.8 – – – –  1.8 

10 Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges,  

net of income tax – – –  1.6 – – –  1.6 

Other comprehensive income for the period,  

net of income tax

 

– 

 

– 

 

 1.8 

 

 1.6 

 

– 

 

 1.5 

 

– 

 

 4.9 

Total comprehensive income for the period  – –  1.8  1.6 –  1.5  (46.3)  (41.4) 

Transactions with owners, recorded  

directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

10 Issue of ordinary shares  0.3  2.8  –   –   –   –   –   3.1 

Share-based payment transactions  –   –   –   –   0.1  0.4  –   0.5 

10 Dividends to equity holders  –   (10.2)  –   –   –   –   –   (10.2)

10 Appropriation of retained earnings  –   –   –   –   –   14.4  (14.4)  –  

Balance at 31 December 2022  30.2  38.4  9.4  1.8  (1.8)  143.3  (46.3)  175.0 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
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Note EUR million 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period (46.3) 14.4

Adjustments for:

27 Net finance costs 5.1 3.7

Share profit or loss of an associate  –   0.1

28 Income tax expense 6.6 5.7

1, 2 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 

software 23.3 23.9

2 Amortization of other intangible assets 4.7 3.9

1, 2 Impairments of fixed assets 58.7 3.5

3 Profit on disposal of associate  –   (0.6)

Share-based payments  0.5 1.2

52.6 55.8 

Change in trade and other receivables (3.2) (7.1)

Change in inventories (5.0) (15.2)

Change in trade and other payables 3.1 5.9

Change in provisions (0.5) (1.2)

Change in contract liabilities 0.2 (1.0)

47.2 37.2 

Interest paid (4.1) (3.2)

Interest received 0.0 0.0

Tax paid (5.2) (6.2)

Net cash flows from operating activities 37.9 27.8 

Note EUR million 2022 2021

Cash flows from investing activities

2 Acquisition of subsidiaries  –   (23.2)

3 Proceeds from disposal of associate  –   3.3

1 Investments in property, plant and equipment  (32.0) (23.7)

1 Disinvestments of property, plant and equipment  0.2 0.7

2 Investments in intangible fixed assets  (5.7) (6.3)

2 Disinvestments of intangible fixed assets  0.0 0.2

3 (Dis)investments of other investments  (0.4) 0.2

Net cash from investing activities (37.9) (48.8) 

Cash flows from financing activities

12 Payment of lease liabilities  (3.3) (3.4)

12 Proceeds from borrowings (non current)  30.8 32.4

12 Proceeds from/repayments of borrowings (current)  1.7 (0.8)

10 Dividends paid  (7.1) (4.3)

Net cash from financing activities 22.1 23.9 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 22.1 2.9

8 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 12.5 8.5

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 0.1 1.1

8 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 34.7 12.5 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reporting entity 
Kendrion N.V. (the ‘Company’) is domiciled in the Netherlands. The Company’s registered office is at Herikerbergweg 213, 1101 CN Amsterdam. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 

(together also referred to as the ‘Group’). The Group is involved in the design and manufacture of intelligent actuators that are used in wind turbines, 

robots, factory automation, electric vehicles, energy distribution, and industrial heating processes. 

Basis of preparation  
Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2022 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and IFRS IC interpretations (IFRIC), published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union 

(hereinafter referred to as EU-IFRS) and in accordance with the legal requirements of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The Company financial 

statements are integrated part of the 2022 financial statements of Kendrion N.V. 

 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Executive Board on 28 February 2023. 

 

Basis of measurement 
The financial statements are presented in millions of euros, the euro also being the Group’s functional currency. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except that: 

	■ derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value; 

	■ the defined benefit liability is recognized as net total of plan assets and present value of the defined benefit obligations; 

 

The Executive Board had, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group have adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 

statements.

The methods used to measure the fair values are disclosed in note r. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board has 

made judgements and estimates that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

estimates are recognized prospectively. 

 

Executive Board made critical judgements in the process of applying Group's accounting policies and have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognized in the consolidated financial statements, see notes: 

	■ note 2 – goodwill impairment testing; 

	■ note 6 – inventories. 

(a)

(b)
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In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board has made judgements and estimates that affect the application of the Group’s 

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognized prospectively. Executive Board made critical 

judgements in the process of applying Group's accounting policies and have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated 

financial statements, see notes:  note 2 – goodwill impairment testing;  note 6 – inventories.  

Executive Board made estimations concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,  

that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

	■ note 2 – management forecast and growth rate of each cash-generating unit to determine whether goodwill is impaired; 

	■ note 2 – management forecast of cashflows to determine whether customer relations are impaired;

	■ note 4 – utilisation of tax losses; 

	■ note 4 – outcome of tax audits; 

	■ note 6 – valuation of inventories; 

	■ note 13 – valuation of defined benefit obligations; 

	■ note 15 – provisions; 

	■ note 19 – leases. 

   

In 2022, the Group was affected by a number of global trends, such as continuing semiconductor shortages, demand volatility, and supply price 

increases. Furthermore, our Chinese businesses were impacted by lockdowns in the first part of 2022. Although the Group was successfully able to 

partly mitigate the impact of these trends, it had an impact on revenues and results of the Group and might continue to do so in the future. 

Due to the impact on climate change supported by various legislative initiatives, the automotive industry is transitioning from combustion engine vehicles 

to electric and hybrid vehicles, which impacts the Groups Automotive business. The imminent phase out of existing technologies has impacted the 

accounting estimates around the valuation of goodwill, resulting in a goodwill impairment. The economic life and valuation of the tangible fixed assets is 

not impacted by this changed outlook. On the other hand the transition towards electrification in automotive and the broader energy transition poses 

opportunities for the Group to develop new strategically relevant products and secure profitable growth for the future.

Significant accounting policies  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements  

and by the entities within the Group. 

  
Basis of consolidation 
Business combinations 

In 2021, the company acquired 3T BV. This acquisition is disclosed in note 23. It was included in the 2022 financial statements for comparison 

purposes. 

(a)

(i)
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred  

to the Group. Control refers to the authority to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity to obtain benefits from its activities.  

When assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that are currently exercisable. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

	■ 	the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

	■ the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

	■ if the business combination is realized in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 

	■ the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

 

If the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in comprehensive income (hereafter also referred to as ‘profit  

or loss’). The consideration transferred does not include amounts relating to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts  

are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group incurs in connection with a business 

combination are expensed as incurred. 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, then  

it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration  

are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquirees employees (acquirees 

awards) and relate to past services, then all or part of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included when measuring the consideration 

transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards as compared to the market-

based value of the acquirees awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service. 

  

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity if it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from  

its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences, until the date that control ceases. The shares of third parties  

in shareholders’ equity and results are stated separately. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed, where necessary, to align them with the 

policies adopted by the Company. 

 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intragroup balances and transactions, as well as any unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions,  

are eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

(ii)

(iii)
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Foreign currency 
Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions expressed in non-euro zone currencies are translated into euros at exchange rates at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in non-euro zone currencies at the reporting date are translated into euros at the exchange rate at that date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-euro zone currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate  

at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-euro zone currencies that are measured at fair value are 

translated in euros at the exchange rates when the fair value was determined. Currency differences on foreign currency transactions are recognized  

in profit or loss, except loans considered to be part of the net investment, or qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedges are effective. 

 

Translation of foreign currency financial statements 

Translation of foreign currency financial statements depends on the functional currency of the company concerned. The closing rate method is applied  

if the functional currency of the company is other than the euro. With this method, assets and liabilities of non-euro zone operations, including goodwill 

and fair value adjustments arising at the time of acquisition, are translated into euros at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses 

of non-euro zone operations are translated into euros at rates approximating the exchange rates at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve, which is a component of equity. 

On the partial or complete sale of a foreign operation, the related amount is transferred from the translation reserve to profit or loss. 

 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a non-euro zone operation, of which the settlement  

is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a non-euro zone operation and are recognized 

directly in equity, in the translation reserve. 

  

Property, plant and equipment 
Owned assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or assumed cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses  

(see accounting policy g). The cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 

includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and reinstating  

the site on which they are located, a reasonable proportion of production overheads, and capitalized borrowing costs. 

 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant  

and equipment. 

  

Lease 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified assets for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 

control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

 

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(c)

(i)

(ii)
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At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each 

lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone process. However, the Group elects not to separate non-lease components from lease 

components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease component as a single lease component for only the 

following class of underlying asset: plant and equipment and other fixed assets. 

If individual leases have similar characteristics (e.g. vehicles leased in one location from one lessor) the Group may apply the portfolio application  

as a practical expedient. 

 

The Group shall combine two or more contracts entered into at or near the same time with the same counterparty, and account for the contracts  

as a single contract if one or more of the following criteria are met: 

	■ The contracts are negotiated as a package with an overall commercial objective that cannot be understood without considering the contracts 

together; or 

	■ The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the price or performance of the other contract; or 

	■ The rights to use underlying assets conveyed in the contracts (or some rights to use underlying assets conveyed in each of the contracts) form  

a single lease component. 

 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 

which comprise the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement data, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred. 

 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful 

life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same bases as those  

of owned assets. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease 

liability. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using  

the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses  

its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments 

to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

 

Lease liability might include: 

	■ Fixed lease payments; 

	■ Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 
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	■ Exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group  

is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not  

to terminate early. 

 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future 

lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or in the Group’s assessment of exercising a purchase, extension or termination option. 

 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded  

in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

When there is a change in the scope of a lease, or the consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease,  

this is a lease modification and can result in a separate lease or a change in an existing lease. 

 

If a lease modification qualifies as a change in the accounting for the existing lease then the Group shall remeasure the lease liability based on  

the present value of the revised lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses  

the incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification. When lease modifications fully or partially decrease the scope of the lease,  

the Group decreases the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect partial or full termination of the lease. Any difference is recognized  

in profit or loss at the effective date of the modification. 

  

Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 

economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part  

is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized as an incurred charge in profit or loss. 

 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each component of property, plant and equipment.  

Land is not depreciated. 

 

Leased assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life or the end  

of the lease term. 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually. 

  

Recognition of transaction results 

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are accounted for in other operating income/other expenses in the statement  

of comprehensive income. 
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Intangible assets 
Goodwill 

Goodwill that arises upon acquisition of a subsidiary is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, see note b. 

 

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortized but is tested 

annually for impairment (see note g). 

 

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognized directly in profit or loss. 

 

Research and development 

Research and development expenses comprise expenditure on research and development and expenses for customer-specific applications, prototypes 

and testing. 

 

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding is recognized  

in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development expenditure 

is capitalized only if the development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 

benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure 

capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, and 

capitalized borrowing costs. Other development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 

 

Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are stated at cost less accumulated amortization (see next page)  

and accumulated impairment losses (see note g). Based on the purchase price allocation of acquisitions, intangible assets that are part of the  

other intangible assets and relate to, for example, valued customer relations, trade names and technologies are also recognized. 

 

Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible assets is capitalized only if it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific  

asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed when incurred. 

 

Amortization 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets 

are amortized from the date they are available for use. Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate. 
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Financial instruments and other investments 
Financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments 

 

Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 

component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 

acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets,  

in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.  

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

	■ it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

	■ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

	■ it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

	■ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows. 

 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the 

investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

  

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. 

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or 

at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects 

the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management. Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose 

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

  

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as 

consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period  

of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
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In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the 

instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual  

cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers: 

	■ contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

	■ terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 

	■ prepayment and extension features; and 

	■ terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features). 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, 

it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, 

including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also 

recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Derecognition 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 

the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in 

which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

 

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognizes a 

financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability 

based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 

and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group 

currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts, it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously and the financial assets and financial liabilities are with the same party. 

  

Other investments 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. 

Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which includes transaction 

costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-

accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. 
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Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables represent the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional. Trade and other receivables are carried  

at amortized cost, less impairment losses (see note g). An exception is made for trade receivables of designated customers of a limited number of 

subsidiaries of the Group, which are sold to a factoring company, with limited recourse. These trade debtors are measured at fair value through profit 

and loss, until they are derecognized at the moment that the invoices are sold to the factoring company. 

  

Recognized interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are carried at amortized cost with any difference between the initial carrying amount  

and the redemption amount, based on the effective interest method, taken to profit or loss over the respective terms of the loans. 

  

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortized cost. 

  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and other call deposits payable on demand. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management, are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents in the statement  

of cash flows. They are measured at fair value. 

  

Other non-derivative financial instruments 

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

 

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the 

host contract and accounted for separately if the host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria are met. At 31 December 2022, no embedded 

derivatives existed. 

 

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value, with attributable transaction costs recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when they  

are incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are carried at fair value. Any changes are taken to profit or loss. 

 

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast 

transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates and certain derivatives and non-derivative financial liabilities as hedges  

of foreign exchange risk on a net investment in a foreign operation. At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk 

management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the hedged item and  

the hedging instrument, including whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other. 
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Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income and 

presented in the hedging reserve. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is recognized in OCI is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged 

item, determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange contracts as the hedging 

instrument in cash flow hedging relationships. The change in fair value of the forward element of forward exchange contracts (‘forward points’) is 

separately accounted for as a cost of hedging. 

When the hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item such as inventory, the amount accumulated in  

the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve is included directly in the initial cost of the non-financial item when it is recognized. 

 

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or 

loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. 

 

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge 

accounting is discontinued prospectively. When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in the 

hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in the recognition of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial 

item’s cost on its initial recognition or, for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods as the hedged expected 

future cash flows affect profit or loss. 

 

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have been accumulated in the hedging reserve and the cost  

of hedging reserve are immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

  

Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to sell. The cost of inventories of the Group is based on the weighted  

average cost, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing  

them to their current location and condition. The cost of inventories includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

  

Impairment 
Financial assets 

The Group recognizes impairments for financial assets based on the ‘expected credit loss’ model. The Group measures loss allowances at an amount 

equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. 

 

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls,  

being the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance to the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.  

The Group makes use of the simplified method for trade receivables and contracts assets as set out in IFRS 9. 
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The expected credit losses for significant financial assets are determined on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively 

in groups of assets that have similar credit risk characteristics. 

 

All impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in profit or loss. 

  

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date  

to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 

that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the ‘cash-

generating unit’). For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment 

losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are first allocated to reduce the carrying amount 

of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

  

Reversal of impairment losses 

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. Impairment losses in respect of other assets are reversed if there has been a change in  

the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

Reversals of impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

  

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of the Group’s receivables carried at amortized cost is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed on initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables  

with a short remaining term are not discounted. The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. 
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In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 

inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
  
Share capital 
Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction  

from equity, net of any tax effect. 

  

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares) 

When own shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs and net of any tax 

effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total 

equity. If treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or 

deficit on the transaction is transferred respectively to or from other reserves. 

  

Dividends 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as determined from time to time by the General Meeting of Shareholders.  

The Executive Board has the authority to decide, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, what portion of the profit will be allocated to the reserves. 

If applicable, the declared but unpaid dividends are recognized as a liability. 

 
Employee benefits 
Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have  

no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized  

as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when incurred. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund  

or reduction in future payments will occur. 

 

Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit 

plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 

current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The Group determines 

the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 

benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset). The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date  

on Corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency  

in which the benefits are expected to be paid. 
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The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the 

Group, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions  

in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding 

requirements that apply to any plan in the Group. An economic benefit is available to the Group if it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on 

settlement of the plan liabilities. 

 

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect  

of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The Group recognizes them immediately in other comprehensive income, and all other expenses related  

to defined benefit plans as employee benefit expenses in profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion 

of the changed benefit relating to past service by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss when the plan 

amendment or curtailment occurs. The Group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.  

 

The gain or loss on a settlement is the difference between the present value of the defined benefit obligation being settled as determined on the  

date of settlement and the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made directly by the Group in connection with  

the settlement. 

 

Other long-term service benefits 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits other than pension plans is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in 

return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method, discounted to its present value 

and net of the fair value of any related assets. The discount rate is the yield at the financial position date on corporate bonds that have maturity dates 

approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

As only equity settled share-based payments are applicable only the accounting policy for these transactions has been included. 

The fair value on the grant date of share-based payment awards made to employees and the Executive Board is recognized as an employee expense, 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognized  

as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met,  

so that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance 

conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the fair value on the grant date of the share-based 

payment is measured to reflect such conditions, with no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

  

Short-term employee benefits 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result  

of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related 

service is provided. 
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Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognized  

costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, then they are discounted. 

  

Provisions 
A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,  

that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that settlement of the obligation will involve an outflow of funds. If the effect is material, provisions are 

determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 

where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

 

Restructuring provisions 

A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has 

commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for. 

  

Assets classified as held for sale 
Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

 

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This 

condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present 

condition. Management must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from 

the date of classification. 

   
Revenue 
Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects 

the consideration (net of discounts, rebates, returns and excluding VAT) to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the goods or services before 

transferring them to the customer. 

 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery  

of the goods. The normal credit term is 15 up to 90 days upon delivery. 
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The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to which a portion of the  

transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g. warranties). In determining the transaction price for the sale of equipment, the Group considers  

the effects of variable consideration (e.g. early payment discount, volume rebates), the existence of significant financing components, noncash 

consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). 

If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange  

for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable  

that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved. Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with a right of return and or volume rebates and  

or early payment discount. These conditions might give rise to variable consideration. 

 

Certain contracts provide a customer the right to apply an early payment discount when the consideration to which the Group is entitled is transferred 

to the Group before the contractual agreed credit terms. Those rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable 

consideration for the expected future early payment rebates, the Group applies the most likely amount method for contracts with a single-volume 

threshold and the expected value method for contracts with more than one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the amount  

of variable consideration is primarily driven by the payment behaviour in the past and or any agreement with the customer when the consideration  

will be transferred. 

 

The related costs are recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred. Advances received are included in contract liabilities. 

 

Services 

Apart from sales of goods the Group provides limited services such as repairs and engineering/development services. Revenues from services  

are recognized in proportion to the services rendered, based on the cost incurred in respect of the services performed up to balance sheet date,  

in proportion to the estimated costs of the aggregate services to be performed. The cost price of these services is allocated to the same period. 

 

Contract assets 

The Group recognizes incremental costs of obtaining a contract and certain costs to fulfil a contract as an asset if the Group expects to recover those 

costs. Any capitalized contract costs assets will be amortized on a systematic basis that is consistent with the entity’s transfer of the related goods  

or services to the customer. 

 

Contract liabilities 

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of 

consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract 

liability is recognized when the payment is made, or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when  

the Group performs under the contract. 
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Expenses 
Lease expenses – short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease terms of  

12 months or less and lease of low-value assets. Individual lease assets with a new value of EUR 5,000 or less (or any other foreign exchange equivalent) 

are considered to be low value assets. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense  

on straight-line basis over the lease term. 

  

Net finance costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, and financial assets held to maturity. Interest income is recognized in profit or loss  

as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, commitment fees, accrued interest on provisions, interest on pension liabilities, impairment 

losses recognized on financial assets and losses on interest rate hedge instruments to the extent they are recognized in profit or loss. All borrowing costs 

are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 

Realized and unrealized foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities, including changes in fair value of currency hedge instruments 

that are not qualified as cash flow hedges, are reported on a net basis. 

  
Income tax 
Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss unless it relates to items recognized directly in equity, 

in which case it is recognized in equity. The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, 

do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or 

receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 

received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends. 

 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  

for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

	■ the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; 

	■ relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not be reversed in the foreseeable 

future; 

	■ arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

(m)

(i)

(ii)

(n)
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted  

or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes 

levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity; or on different tax entities, but the intention is to settle current tax liabilities and assets on  

a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be applied. 

Deferred tax assets are reduced if it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of a dividend are recognized at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend is 

recognized. 

 

Uncertain tax items for which a provision is made relate principally to the interpretation of tax legislation regarding arrangements entered into by the 

Group. Due to the uncertainty associated with such tax items, there is a possibility that, on conclusion of open tax matters at a future date, the final 

outcome may differ significantly. 

  
Earnings per share 
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or  

loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period. 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

  
Segment reporting 
The Group defines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided internally to the Executive Board, the Group’s chief  

operating decision-maker. This is in conformity with IFRS 8 – Operating segments. 

 

On the basis of the criteria of IFRS 8, Kendrion has four operating segments, the business groups Industrial Brakes and Industrial Actuators and 

Controls and Automotive Core and Automotive E, which are subgroups to the business group Automotive. An operating segment is a part of the Group 

engaging in business activities that may result in revenue and expenses, including the revenue and expenses relating to transactions with any of the 

Group’s other segments. The Executive Board conducts regular reviews of the operating segment’s results to reach decisions on the resources to be 

allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, whereby separate financial information for each operating segment is available. 

 

However, on the basis of the aggregation criteria of IFRS 8.12, these operating segments have been aggregated into two reportable segments:  

Automotive and Industrial. In accordance with IFRS 8, the Company also discloses general and entity-wide information, including information about 

geographical areas and major customers of the Group as a whole. More information on the reportable segments is provided in note 22. 

(o)

(p)
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New standards and interpretations 
A number of amendments to standards are effective, and have been endorsed by the European Union, for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2022 and therefore apply to the year ended 31 December 2022: 

	■ 2018-2020 annual improvement cycle 

	■ IAS 16 – amendments regarding proceeds before intended use 

	■ IAS 37 – amendments regarding onerous contracts 

	■ IFRS 3 – updated reference to conceptual framework. 

The amendments do not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

The following standards or interpretations published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are not effective at 31 December 2022 and are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements: 

	■ IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (2023). 

	■ Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (amendments to IAS 1) (2023). 

	■ Disclosure of Accounting Policy (amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) (2023). 

	■ Definition of Accounting Estimate (amendments to IAS 8) (2023). 

	■ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) (expected year 

unknown). 

  
Fair values 
Measurement of fair value 

Several of the Group’s accounting policies, as well as the information supplied by the Group, require the fair value of both financial and non-financial 

assets and liabilities to be determined. For valuation and information supplied, the fair value is measured using the methods below. Where applicable, 

more detailed information on the basis of the fair value measurement is disclosed in the specific notes on the asset or liability in question. The principal 

methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of financial instruments included in the summary are given below. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized as a result of a business combination is based on market value in use. The market value of 

property is the estimated amount for which the property in question could be exchanged on the valuation date between a buyer and seller in an arm’s 

length transaction, in which both parties have acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The market value of other items of property, 

plant and equipment is based on the quoted market prices of comparable assets and goods. 

 

(q)

(r)

(i)

(ii)
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Intangible assets 

The fair value of patents and trademarks acquired as part of a business combination is measured on the basis of the discounted estimated royalties that 

have been avoided through ownership of the patent or trademark. The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a business combination is based 

on the excess earnings method over multiple periods, valuing the asset in question by deducting a real return on all other assets which in total create 

the related cash flows. The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the expected discounted value of the cash flows from the use and ultimate 

sale of these assets. 

 

Lease liabilities 

The fair value is estimated on the basis of the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the interest rate for lease contracts of a similar nature. 

The estimated fair value reflects movements in interest rates. 

 

Inventories 

The fair value of inventories acquired as part of a business combination is determined on the basis of the estimated selling price as part of normal business 

operations, less the estimated costs of completion and the selling costs, plus a reasonable profit margin that reflects the completion and sales effort. 

 

Trade and other receivables/trade and other payables 

The face value of receivables and liabilities falling due within one year is regarded as a reflection of their fair value. The fair value of all other receivables 

and liabilities is measured on the basis of present value. The discount factor is based on the risk-free interest rate of the same duration as the receivable 

and/or payable, plus a credit mark-up reflecting the credit worthiness of the Group. 

Interest-bearing loans 

The fair value is calculated on the basis of the present value of future repayments of principal and interest at the prevailing market rate of interest, 

supplemented by a credit mark-up reflecting the credit worthiness of the Group. 

 

Derivatives 

The fair value of derivatives is based on the present value of the contractual cash flows for the remaining term based on a risk-free interest rate. 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The fair value of non-derivative financial liabilities is determined from information supplied and is based on the present value of future repayments  

of principal and interest, discounted at a risk-free rate, and a margin based on the credit worthiness of the Group on the reporting date. 

 

Contingent consideration 

The fair value of contingent considerations arising in a business combination is calculated using the income approach based on the expected payment 

amounts and their associated probabilities. If appropriate, it is discounted to present value. 

  

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
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Financial risk management 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

	■ credit risk; 

	■ liquidity risk; 

	■ 	market risk. 

This section provides general information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks in the course of its normal business operations,  

the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative 

disclosures are included in the financial instrument section in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The Executive Board bears the ultimate responsibility for the organisation and control of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk 

policy is designed to identify and analyse the risks confronting the Group, implement appropriate risk limits and control measures, and monitor the risks 

and compliance with the limits. The risk management policy and systems are evaluated at regular intervals and, if necessary, adapted to accommodate 

changes in market conditions and the Group’s operations. 

 

The Company’s Supervisory Board supervises compliance with the Group’s risk management policy and procedures. 

 

For a more detailed description of risk management and the position of financial risk management in the Group’s framework, see the Report  

of the Executive Board. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group in the event that a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. Credit risks arise primarily from accounts receivable, derivative transactions concluded with banks, and cash positions and deposits held 

with banks. The Group continually monitors the credit risk within the Group. The Group does not normally require collateral for trade and other 

receivables or financial assets. 

The credit policy includes an assessment of the creditworthiness of every new major customer before offering payment and delivery terms. 

This assessment includes external credit ratings or reports if they are available. The creditworthiness of major customers is actively monitored  

on an ongoing basis. 

The Group recognizes impairment provisions of an amount equal to the estimated losses on trade and other receivables and other investments.  

The main component of this provision comprises specific provisions for losses on individual accounts of material significance. 

 

Credit concentration risk 

The geographical credit risk from the Group’s direct customers is largely concentrated in Germany. However, as the Group’s most important customers 

in the various segments of the German market are multinational or global players, this reduces the Group’s dependency on the German market. More 

details on credit concentration risk can be found in note 18. 

 

(s)

(i)

(ii)
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Investments and financial instruments 

The Group currently does not invest in debt securities. Cash positions and exposure to the financial instruments of financial counterparties are 

monitored actively. The Group’s main financial counterparties are well-established banks with good creditworthiness. The cash in bank accounts  

at other than the core-relationship banks is maintained at the minimum level required for the operations of the Group’s companies. 

Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations at the required time. Liquidity risk management is based on the 

maintenance of sufficient liquidity in the form of unused (committed) credit facilities or cash to meet present and future financial obligations in normal  

and adverse circumstances. 

 

A summary of the credit lines available to the Group is disclosed in note 12 of these consolidated financial statements. The majority of the available 

facilities are provided by a syndicate of lenders consisting of HSBC and ING Bank on an equal basis. The Group had approximately EUR 58 million 

available in cash and undrawn facilities on the financial position date. 

 

Market risk 

The market risk is the risk of the deterioration of the Group’s income due to movements in market prices, such as those relating to exchange rates  

and interest rates. The management of market risk exposure is intended to keep the market risk position within acceptable limits. 

 

Derivatives are used to manage specific market risks. These transactions are carried out within the treasury framework adopted by the Executive Board. 

If necessary, the Group uses hedge accounting to manage volatility in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Pursuant to the Group’s policy more than 50% of the exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is maintained on a fixed rate basis, taking into 

account any assets with exposure to changes in interest rates and expected short-term free cash flows. The policy is implemented by making use of 

derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and interest rate options. 

 

The Group has currently outstanding interest swap contracts with a total underlying notional value of EUR 70 million in order to reduce interest rate risk 

exposure to increasing market rates. EUR 20 million matures in 2023, EUR 25 million in 2024 and EUR 25 million in 2025. 

 

Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks on sales, purchases, equity positions and loans expressed in currencies other than the euro. The Group 

companies are primarily financed in their own currency. The majority of the revenues and costs of the Group companies are realized in the euro zone. 

Sales outside the euro zone are partly generated locally and partly through exports from the euro zone. Most of these exports are realized in euros. 

 

The Group’s activities in the Czech Republic have the most significant currency exposure, since the majority of revenue is generated in euros and part of 

the costs are in Czech korunas. Pursuant to the Group’s policy this currency exposure is hedged to a level of at least 70% for the next four quarters. 

Exchange rate risks are hedged with derivatives. 

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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Other currencies are actively monitored and where needed exposure is hedged, however less structural exposure is identified. 

 

The Group also actively hedges intercompany loans in foreign currencies with currency forwards, swaps or back-to-back loans in the same foreign 

currency. 

Pursuant to the Group’s policy for other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, net exposure is maintained at an acceptable 

level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates as required to correct short-term imbalances. 

 

The Group’s policy stipulates that, in principle, equity investments and other translation exposures are not hedged. 

 

Other price risks 

Steel, copper and rare earth metals used in permanent magnets are the most important commodities for the Group. 

 

Copper constitutes the Group’s main direct exposure to raw material price risks, since copper wire is an important component of electromagnets. 

Pursuant to the Group’s policy, the sensitivity to copper prices is actively reduced both by concluding fixed-price purchase contracts in the normal 

course of business with copper wire suppliers and by including raw material clauses in sales contracts. As the need arises the Group can also conclude 

derivative financial instrument contracts with financial counterparties to hedge the copper risk. No financial derivative contracts for raw materials were 

outstanding at the balance sheet date. 

The Group is also exposed to risks associated with rare earth metals such as neodymium, a component of permanent magnets, which are used  

in some of the Group’s products. Prices of these commodities have shown significant volatility in the past. The Group closely monitors developments  

in this market and has increased stock levels and the number of supply sources for these permanent magnets. 

 

Furthermore, agreements have been made with customers representing the majority of the sales volume in this context, to link sales prices to 

movements in permanent magnet prices. 

 

The Group is mainly indirectly exposed to raw material price risks relating to oil and steel, primarily as part of the purchase prices of machined components. 

This exposure is monitored and, if feasible, reduced by means of raw material clauses with customers and by concluding fixed-price agreements with 

suppliers for periods of between six and twelve months. The Kendrion steel contracts also partly govern the purchasing from component suppliers. 

Raw materials are purchased separately by each business unit, but in accordance with the group policy reviewed periodically with the objective  

of further increasing and sharing knowledge on commodities and commodity markets between business units, reducing risks and/or prices. 

 

Capital management 

The Executive Board’s policy is designed to maintain a strong capital gearing to retain the confidence of investors, creditors and the markets,  

and to safeguard the future development of the business activities. The Executive Board monitors the return on equity, which the Group defines  

as the net operating result divided by shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests. The Executive Board also monitors the level of dividend 

distributed to ordinary shareholders. 

(viii)

(ix)
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The Executive Board seeks to strike a balance between a higher return that would be achievable with a higher level of borrowed capital and  

the benefits and security of sound capital gearing. 

 

Kendrion intends to distribute an annual dividend of between 35% and 50% of normalized net profit before amortization, taking into consideration the 

amount of net profit to be retained to support the medium and long-term strategic plans of the company and to maintain a minimum solvency of 35%. 

 

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to any externally imposed capital requirements beyond those stipulated by law. 

 

Government Grants 
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as deduction on the related expense on a systematic basis in 

the periods in which the expenses are recognized, unless the conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related expenses have been 

recognized. In this case, the grant is recognized when it becomes receivable. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Property, plant and equipment owned 118.3 107.5 

Property, plant and equipment right-of-use assets 13.3 14.4 

Total 131.6 121.9 

 
Property, plant and equipment owned 

EUR million 

Land and  

buildings 

Plant and  

equipment 

Other fixed  

assets 

Under  

construction Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 

Cost  67.2             154.8  59.4  9.5  290.9 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (31.8)  (108.1)  (46.1)  (0.5)  (186.5) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2021  35.4  46.7  13.3  9.0  104.4 

Acquired through business combinations  –  – 0.4  – 0.4    
Acquired, other 0.9 7.1 3.2 15.8 27.0 

Disposals (0.3) (0.4) (0.0) (3.3) (4.0) 

Currency translation differences 0.3 0.7 0.0 0.5 1.5 

Depreciation for the year  (2.4)  (11.4)  (4.5)  –   (18.3) 

Impairments  –   (0.2)  (0.0)  (3.3)  (3.5) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2021  33.9  42.5  12.4  18.7  107.5 

(t)

1
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Property, plant and equipment owned 

EUR million 

Land and  

buildings 

Plant and  

equipment 

Other fixed  

assets 

Under  

construction Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2022 

Costs  68.1  162.2  63.0  22.5  315.8 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (34.2)  (119.7)  (50.6)  (3.8)  (208.3) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022  33.9  42.5   12.4   18.7   107.5  

Acquired, other  2.4   11.7   6.4   26.6   47.1  

Disposals  (0.9)  (1.3)  (0.3)  (12.8)  (15.3) 

Currency translation differences  0.0   0.2   0.0   0.2   0.4  

Reclassified to held for sale  (1.6)  (0.1)  (0.2)  –    (1.9) 

Depreciation for the year  (2.5)  (11.1)  (4.5)  –    (18.1) 

Impairments  (0.7)  (0.1)  (0.0)  (0.6)  (1.4) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  30.6   41.8   13.8   32.1   118.3  

Costs  68.0   172.7   68.9   36.5   346.1  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (37.4)  (130.9)  (55.1)  (4.4)  (227.8) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  30.6   41.8   13.8   32.1   118.3  

 

Right-of-use assets  

EUR million 

Land and  

buildings

Plant and  

equipment

Other fixed  

assets

Under  

construction Total

Balance as at 1 January 2021 

Costs  20.0   0.2   3.5   –    23.7  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (6.7)  (0.1)  (2.6)  –    (9.4) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2021  13.3   0.1   0.9   –    14.3  

Acquired through business combinations  1.9   –    –    –    1.9  

Acquired, other  2.0   –    0.3   –    2.3  

Disposals  (1.8)  –    (0.0)  –    (1.8) 

Currency translation differences  0.4   0.0   0.0   –    0.4  

Depreciation for the year  (2.1)  (0.1)  (0.5)  –    (2.7) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2021  13.7   0.0   0.7   –    14.4  
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Right-of-use assets  

EUR million 

Land and  

buildings

Plant and  

equipment

Other fixed  

assets

Under  

construction Total

Balance as at 1 January 2022 

Costs  22.5   0.2   3.8   –    26.5  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (8.8)  (0.2)  (3.1)  –    (12.1) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022  13.7   0.0   0.7   –    14.4  

Acquired, other  0.9   0.0   0.6   –    1.5  

Disposals  (0.0)  –    (0.0)  –    (0.0) 

Currency translation differences  0.2   0.0   (0.0)  –    0.2  

Depreciation for the year  (2.3)  (0.0)  (0.5)  –    (2.8) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  12.5   0.0   0.8   –    13.3  

Costs  23.6   0.2   4.4   –    28.2  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (11.1)  (0.2)  (3.6)  –    (14.9) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  12.5   0.0   0.8   –    13.3  

 

Translation differences are calculated on the carrying amount and reflected in the related item in the cost. 

 

The estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings	 10 – 30 years 

Plant and equipment	 5 – 10 years 

Other fixed assets	 3 – 7 years 

 

The Executive Board reviews at each reporting period the estimated useful lives of each asset with a definite useful life. During the current year,  

the Executive Board determined that the useful lives do not require to be revised. 

Depreciation of EUR 20.9 million (2021: EUR 21.0 million) is recognized in Depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statement of profit and loss 

and other comprehensive income. Impairments of EUR 1.4 million (2021: EUR 3.5 million) are recorded in Impairments of fixed assets in the 

consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
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Intangible assets	  

EUR million Goodwill  
Development  

costs Software Concessions Other Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 

Costs  117.0   8.8   26.8   –    67.1   219.7  

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  –    (3.6)  (23.3)  –    (33.7)  (60.6) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2021  117.0   5.2   3.5   –    33.4   159.1  

Acquired through business combinations  14.8   –    –    –    8.4   23.2  

Acquired, other  –    1.7   3.5   1.1   –    6.3  

Disposals  –    (0.1)  (0.1)  –    (0.7)  (0.9) 

Currency translation differences  1.9   0.2   0.1   –    0.3   2.5  

Amortisation for the year  –    (1.2)  (1.7)  (0.0)  (3.9)  (6.8) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2021  133.7   5.8   5.3   1.1   37.5   183.4  

Balance as at 1 January 2022 

Costs  133.7   10.6   30.3   1.1   75.1   250.8  

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  –    (4.8)  (25.0)  (0.0)  (37.6)  (67.4) 

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2022  133.7   5.8   5.3   1.1   37.5   183.4  

Acquired, other  –    3.1   3.4   –    –    6.5  

Disposals  –    –    (0.8)  –    –    (0.8) 

Currency translation differences  1.7   (0.2)  0.0   (0.0)  0.3   1.8  

Amortisation for the year  –    (0.9)  (1.4)  (0.1)  (4.7)  (7.1) 

Impairments  (54.7)    –    –    –    (2.6)  (57.3) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  80.7   7.8   6.5   1.0   30.5   126.5  

Costs  135.4   13.5   32.9   1.1   75.4   258.3  

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  (54.7)    (5.7)  (26.4)  (0.1)  (44.9)  (131.8) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  80.7   7.8   6.5   1.0   30.5   126.5  

 

Goodwill has an indefinite estimated useful life. The estimated useful life of software is between three and eight years. The estimated useful life of other 

intangible assets is approximately between eight and nineteen years. The Executive Board reviews at each reporting period the estimated useful lives of 

each intangible asset with a definite useful life. 

2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Annual Integrated Report 2022 142

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

NOTES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



The investments in software during 2022 of EUR 3.4 million (2021: EUR 3.5 million) mainly relate to various software upgrades, business application 

projects and infrastructure projects. The other intangible assets mainly comprise the carrying amount of customer relationships (EUR 30.0 million). 

These customer relationships were acquired through business combinations. 

Amortization of EUR 7.1 million (2021: EUR 6.8 million) is recognized in Depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statement of profit and loss 

and other comprehensive income. Note that for Cash Flow Statement purposes the amortization of software is added to the line ‘Depreciation of 

property, plant and equipment and software’. 

Impairments of EUR 57.3 million (2021: EUR - million) are recorded on the line Impairments of fixed assets in the consolidated statement of profit  

and loss and other comprehensive income. The goodwill impairment test resulted in an impairment of EUR 57.1 million. EUR 54.7 million was allocated 

to the goodwill, being the entire goodwill amount within the Automotive Core CGU. The remaining EUR 2.4 million was allocated to customer 

relationships. As cash flows from customers that were existing at the time of the acquisition of FAS Controls in 2011 were below expectation, a total 

impairment of EUR 2.6 million is recorded for customer relationships. Refer to the next paragraph for goodwill impairment testing. 

 

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill  

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group´s CGUs as follows. 

 

Goodwill EUR million 2022  2021  

Business Group – Industrial Actuators and Controls (IAC) 39.6 39.2 

Business Group – Industrial Brakes (IB) 33.8 33.8 

Business Group – Automotive Core (Core) 		  	 – – 

Business Group – Automotive E (E) 		  	 7.3 – 

Business Group – Kendrion Automotive Group –  60.7  

80.7    133.7  

 

As per the end of 2022, the CGU’s have been revised as a direct consequence of our strategy to focus on enabling the energy transition, resulting  in 

the organizational split of the Business Group Kendrion Automotive Group in Automotive E and Automotive Core. Both business groups are servicing 

distinct segments of the automotive market with specific product technologies. While Automotive Core focuses on existing technologies for combustion 

engine vehicles, Automotive E focuses on the development and marketing of new technologies for autonomous, connected and electric vehicles. For 

the purpose of goodwill impairment testing Automotive Core and Automotive E are considered to be separate CGUs. To the extend the acquired 

companies, or group of companies for which goodwill was originally recognized, are part of Automotive Core, goodwill has been fully allocated to 

Automotive Core. To the extend the acquired company, or group of companies, contain activities that are both attributable to Core and E, the relative 

value approach, by which goodwill is allocated pro rata based on the value in use, is applied. The total Automotive goodwill at the time of the split was 

EUR 62.0 million (2021: EUR 60.7 million). In accordance with the chosen allocation methodology goodwill related to the acquisitions of the Linnig 

Group in 2007 and FAS Controls in 2011 totalling EUR 48.6 million have been fully allocated to the CGU Automotive Core. Goodwill related to the 

acquisition of Kuhnke Automotive in 2013 has been allocated based on the value in use, leading to a total EUR 7.3 million goodwill allocated to 

Automotive E and 6.1 million to Automotive Core.

As a result of the split of the CGUs the favorable expectations of the Automotive E business no longer offset the less favorable expectations of the 

Automotive Core business in the impairment analyses.
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Key assumptions and method of quantification 

Pursuant to IAS 36, the Group has performed an impairment test with reference to the goodwill allocated to each individual cash-generating unit.  

This test was carried out by discounting future cash flows (‘value in use’) to be generated from the continuing use of the cash-generating unit to  

which the goodwill applies and on the assumption of an indefinite life. The impairment test for both Automotive CGUs has been performed as per  

December 31, since the organizational split became effective at the end of 2022. In prior years impairment testing has been performed as per 

September 30. The Group recognized an impairment of goodwill for the CGU Automotive Core of EUR 54.7 million in this reporting period.  

The impairment is included in impairments of fixed assets in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 

For all CGUs except Automotive Core the cash flows for the first five years were based on budgets and mid-term plans drawn up by the local 

management and approved by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. For the subsequent years, the residual value was calculated on the basis  

of the results in the last year of relevant forecasts, with a terminal growth rate of 1.5% -2.0% taken into account. The forecasts took no account of tax 

considerations, i.e. were based on pre-tax cash flow. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model was also 

pre-tax. Expansion investments were excluded from the calculations in the residual value. The expected growth in cash flows as a result of expansion 

investments was also excluded. This is particularly relevant for the CGUs where significant growth is expected and strategic investments are planned.

 

For Automotive Core, 10 year cash flow projections have been considered in the calculation of the value in use. The company justifies the 10 year 

period in order to reflect the specific circumstances of the Automotive Core CGU by which the market for the products and technologies of the CGU  

is expected to gradually lose relevance with the electrification of the powertrain. In accordance with its strategy, Automotive Core does not invest in  

the development of new product applications and focusses on extracting the maximum value from its existing technologies for combustion engine cars.  

The company considers 10 year an appropriate average lifecycle of its existing technologies. In addition, the EU, which is the CGU’s most important 

market, has announced to completely phase out new combustion engine cars by 2035 with many large car manufacturers announcing to phase out 

combustion engine cars in the European market as from 2030. For subsequent years the residual value was calculated on the basis of the cashflow in 

the last year with a terminal growth rate of cash flows of minus 35% reflecting the expected phase out of combustion engine vehicles by 2035 as 

mandated by various legislative initiatives. The terminal value represents less than 2% of the total value in use, which is significantly different compared 

to previous years when the favorable outlook of Automotive E was included, contributing significantly to the impairment.

Key assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amounts concern discount rates, terminal value growth rates, EBITDA margin growth and 

revenue growth. Key assumptions are based on past experience, management assessment of revenue and external sources.  

 

Key assumptions Pre-tax discount rate Terminal value growth rate 

 2022 2021 2022 2021

Business Group – Industrial Actuators and Controls (IAC) 13.2% 11.0% 1.5% 1.5% 

Business Group – Industrial Brakes (IB) 13.2% 10.5% 1.5% 1.5% 

Business Group – Kendrion Automotive Core (Core) 18.4% –  (35.0)% –  

Business Group – Automotive E (E) 	 11.0% –  2.0% –  

Business Group – Automotive Group (KAG) – 10.3% – 1.5% 
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Discount rate 

In determining the pre-tax discount rate, first the post-tax average costs of capital were calculated for all cash generating units containing goodwill.  

The post-tax rate is based on debt leveraging compared to the market value of equity of 25%. The post-tax weighted average cost of capital rates of 

cash generating units amount to approximated 10.4% for IAC and IB and 11.1% for Automotive Core and Automotive E, and these rates were used for 

calculating the post-tax cash flows.  

 

Terminal value growth rate 

The cash generating units IAC, IB and Automotive E have five years of cash flows included in their discounted cash flow models. A long-term growth 

rate in perpetuity has been assumed on the basis of a growth rate of 1.5% for IAC and IB and 2.0% for Automotive E. The slightly higher long-term 

growth rate of Automotive E is a reflection of higher long term inflation expectations and the fact that is expected that the Automotive E CGU, focusing 

on a relatively young market segment, will not have reached maturity after the 5 year projection period. The CGU Automotive Core has ten years of cash 

flows included in its discounted cash flow models. For subsequent years the residual value was calculated on the basis of the cashflow in the last year 

with a terminal growth rate in cash flows of minus 35%. The relative high negative terminal growth rate after the 10 year projection period, reflects the 

expected phase out of the combustion engine by 2035 as mandated by various legislative initiatives.

 

Revenue and EBITDA margin 

For the cash generating units IAC, IB and Automotive E the revenue and EBITDA margin development of the cash generating units are based on  

the financial budgets for 2023 and the strategic business plans for the 4 years thereafter. The growth rates are based on the expectation of market 

developments and management’s assessment of the project pipeline of the cash generating units. The average annual growth rates for revenue in the 

first 5 years range between 3% and 9% for IAC and IB and between 14% and 40% for Automotive E, the total development of the EBITDA margin is in 

line with the long-term group target of at least 15% by 2025. 

For Automotive Core cash flow projections beyond the five year budget and strategic business plan have been created based on managements view of 

the developments of the business in the years towards the termination of the combustion engine. The growth rate for revenue in this ten year period 

varies between minus 6% and minus 13%. 

 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

The recoverable amounts of all cash-generating units with goodwill exceed their carrying amounts. Management has carried out an analysis of sensitivity 

to changes in the key assumptions. Sensitivity analyses are performed based on a change in an assumption while holding other assumptions constant. 

The following changes in assumptions are assessed: 

	■ Increase of the discount rate (post-tax) by 2.0%;  

	■ Decrease of terminal value growth rate by 1.0%; 

	■ Decrease of average revenues growth by 3.0% for IAC and IB and by 10% for Automotive E.

Based on the sensitivity analyses performed it is concluded that any reasonable changes in the key assumptions would not require an impairment for 

IAC, IB and Automotive E. For Automotive Core no goodwill remains after impairment and no sensitivity analysis is performed. 
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Other investments, including derivatives 
Other investments in 2022 include financial derivatives and recognized upfront and legal fees related to the facility agreement (see note 12). Kendrion 

amortizes these costs over the remaining maturity of the facility. As these costs relate to the facility agreement as a whole and not to individual loans, 

these costs are not part of the effective interest rate of outstanding loans. 

 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Equity-accounted investee  0.0   0.0  

Other  0.4   0.4  

 0.4   0.4  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
The Group has recognized deferred tax assets for tax loss carry-forwards in the following jurisdictions: 

 

Germany 

Tax assessments have been submitted for the German companies up to and including 2020. Final audit reports for the years 2010 to 2018 have been 

issued. The years 2019 upto 2022 are open for tax audits. At 31 December 2022, the tax loss carry forwards amounted to EUR 4.7 million (2021:  

EUR 2.0 million) (Trade Tax). These are recognized in full, resulting in deferred tax assets of EUR 0.6 million (2021: EUR 0.2 million). 

 

United States of America 

Tax assessments have been submitted up to and including 2021. The years 2018 up to 2022 are open for tax audits. At 31 December 2022, the tax 

loss carry forwards amounted to EUR 15.6 million (2021: EUR 9.9 million) (Corporate Income Tax) and EUR 6.9 million (2021: EUR 5.4 million) (State 

Tax). EUR 11.7 million of these carry-forward losses are not recognized, a deferred tax asset is recorded for the remaining carry-forward losses resulting 

in a deferred tax assets of EUR 1.1 million (2021: EUR 2.2 million). 

 

The Netherlands 

Tax assessments have been submitted up to and including 2019. In general, the years 2016 up to 2022 are still open for potential tax audits.  

At 31 December 2022, the tax loss carry-forwards amounted to EUR 5.0 million (2021: EUR 0.9 million). EUR 2.1 million of these carry-forward losses  

are not recognized, a deferred tax asset is recorded for EUR 2.9 million of carry-forward losses resulting in deferred tax assets of EUR 0.7 million  

(2021: EUR 0.2 million). These tax loss carry-forwards originated in 2019 and 2022. 

 

Settlement tax audit 

The tax audits for the German fiscal unity for the years 2010-2018 were closed in December 2022 with final audit reports, which will be the basis for 

corrected assessments early 2023. The total liability including interest for the years 2010-2018 amounts to EUR 2.3 million (2021: EUR 1.2 million).  

The total tax liability is compensated by assets totalling to EUR 3.1 million (2021: EUR 2.2 million) for Mutual Agreement Procedures in the UK, tax 

assets in The Netherlands for unilateral corrections, reduced tax charges for the years 2019 to 2021 in Germany, and deferred tax assets in Germany. 

  

3

4

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Annual Integrated Report 2022 146

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

NOTES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the financial position 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities can be specified as follows: 

 

Assets  Liabilities  Net 

EUR million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Property, plant and equipment 2.8 1.4 3.7 3.3 (0.9) (1.9) 

Intangible assets 4.4 4.8 12.4 13.7 (8.0) (8.9) 

Inventories 1.0 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.7 0.1 

Employee benefits 0.8 1.4 0.2 0.0 0.6  1.4 

Provisions 0.2 0.0 0.0  0.0 0.2 0.0 

Other items 3.1 3.3 0.9 0.6 2.2 2.7 

Tax value of recognized loss carry-forwards 7.4 7.2 – – 7.4 7.2 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities 19.7  18.3  17.5  17.7   2.2 0.6  

 

The deferred tax liabilities relate almost entirely to temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax base of property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets. These are of a relatively long-term nature, mostly longer than five years. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be set off. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 

benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed if the probability of future taxable profits improves. Tax loss carry forward limitation rules apply in 

certain jurisdictions in which Kendrion has carry forward tax losses. These rules might under certain circumstances lead to a (proportional) forfeiture of 

recognized and unrecognized carry forward tax losses in case of a direct or indirect change in ownership. 

 

The tax losses carry forward for which no deferred tax assets are recognized in the statement of financial position are reviewed each reporting date. 

These tax losses carry forward for which no deferred tax assets are recognized in the statement of financial position amount to EUR 13.8 million 

(2021: zero). 
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Movement in temporary differences during the financial year 

2022 

Net, EUR million At 1 January 

Recognized  

in profit or loss 

Recognized  

in other 

comprehensive 

income 

At 31  

December 

Property, plant and equipment (1.9) 1.0 – (0.9) 

Intangible assets (8.9) 0.9 – (8.0) 

Inventories 0.1 0.6 – 0.7 

Employee benefits 1.4 (0.1) (0.7) 0.6 

Provisions 0.0 0.2 – 0.2 

Other items 2.7 0.1 (0.6) 2.2 

Tax value of loss carry-forwards used 7.2 0.2 – 7.4 

0.6  2.9  (1.3)  2.2  

2021 

Net, EUR million At 1 January  

Recognized  

in profit or loss 

Recognized  

in other 

comprehensive 

income 

At 31  

December 

Property, plant and equipment (2.8) 0.9 – (1.9) 

Intangible assets (5.6) (3.3) – (8.9) 

Inventories (0.2) 0.3 – 0.1 

Employee benefits 1.8 (0.2) (0.2) 1.4 

Provisions – 0.0 –  0.0

Other items 2.3 0.4 –  2.7

Tax value of loss carry-forwards used 6.8 0.4 – 7.2 

2.3  (1.5)  (0.2)  0.6  

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Annual Integrated Report 2022 148

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

NOTES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Contract costs 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Balance at 1 January 0.5 0.6 

Amortization  (0.2) (0.1) 

Balance at 31 December  0.3  0.5  

From time to time, the Group acquires contracts with customers, for which costs are made to acquire these contracts. Those costs are recognized as 

contracts costs. Contract costs are amortized on a systematic basis that is consistent with the Group’s transfer of the related goods to the customer. 

 

Inventories 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Raw materials, consumables, technical materials and packing materials  54.4   49.4  

Work in progress  16.4   15.4  

Finished goods  11.7   13.5  

Goods for resale  2.6   1.4  

 85.1   79.7  

The value of inventory recorded as an expense in 2022 amounts to EUR 259.7 million (2021: EUR 230.0 million). The inventories are presented after 

accounting for a provision of EUR 8.0 million (2021: EUR 8.6 million) for obsolescence. In 2022, the release of the write-down to net realisable value of 

the inventories in earlier years was EUR 0.6 million (2021: EUR 1.7 million release). The write-down and reversals are included in Raw material and 

subcontracted work. 

 

Trade and other receivables 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Trade receivables  58.8  56.8 

Other taxes and social security  2.9  2.8 

Other receivables  4.2  3.7 

Derivatives used for hedging  2.4  0.3 

Prepayments  2.2  1.7 

 70.5  65.3  

The credit and currency risks associated with trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 18, and in the financial risk management paragraph of 

note q. The provision for doubtful debts amounts to EUR 0.2 million (2021: EUR 0.4 million). EUR 2.1 million of the other receivables relates to volume 

claims on customers for reimbursement of investments in production lines. According to management’s assessment of the customer contracts, it is 

virtually certain that those claims will be collected. 
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The receivables are mainly held according to the ‘held-to-collect’ business model. For certain designated customers Kendrion applies factoring.  

At the end of 2022, an amount of EUR 4.9 million (2021: -million) was sold to a factoring company and was derecognized. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Bank balances  37.8  18.6 

Bank overdrafts  (3.1) (6.1) 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  34.7  12.5  

The bank balances include EUR 0.5 million (2021: EUR 0.8 million) of cash that is held in countries where the Group faces cross-border foreign 

exchange controls and/or other legal restrictions that inhibit the Groups ability to make these balances available for general use by the Group. 

 

The other bank balances are freely available. The interest rate risk for the Group and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed 

in notes 18 and q. 

 

Assets classified as held for sale 
The assets classified as held for sale relate to a building in where Kendrion Eibiswald GmbH conducted its business. While a sale is expected within a 

year this is not in full control of the company. Also refer to note 21. 

  

Capital and reserves  
Capital and share premium 

  Shares entitled to dividend  Shares owned by Kendrion  Total number of issued shares  

 2022  2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

At 1 January  14,841,072   14,766,481   93,663  167,503 14,934 735 14,933,984 

Issued shares (share dividend)  179,886   69,634   –   (68,883) 179,886 751 

Issued registered shares (share plan)  –    3,913   –   (3,913)  –  – 

Granted shares  5,347   1,044   (5,347) (1,044)  –  – 

At 31 December  15,026,305   14,841,072   88,316  93,663  15,114,621 14,934 735 

Issuance of ordinary shares  

In 2022, in total 179,886 new shares were issued (2021: 73,547). During 2022, the Company delivered 5,347 shares to the Executive Board and 

senior management as part of its share plan and remuneration packages (2021: 4,957). 
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Ordinary shares		   

The authorized share capital consists of: 

  

EUR million 2022  2021 

40,000,000 ordinary shares of EUR 2.00 80.0 80.0 

Issued share capital 

Balance at 1 January 2022: 14,934,735 ordinary shares (2021: 14,933,984) 29.9 29.9 

Balance at 31 December 2022: 15,114,621 ordinary shares (2021: 14,934,735) 30.2 29.9 

Share premium  

EUR million 2022  2021 

Balance as at 1 January  45.8  51.7 

Dividend payment  (10.2) (5.9) 

Share premium on issued shares  2.8  0.0 

Balance as at 31 December  38.4  45.8  

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of associates in the non-euro 

zone. Gains and losses relating to the translation risk are recognized in equity. The build-up of the cumulative figure commenced on 1 January 2004. 

 

Hedge reserve 

The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net movement in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments relating to hedged 

transactions that have not yet occurred, net of tax. 

 

The hedge reserve increased by EUR 0.0 million due to the realization of hedged transactions (2021: EUR 0.1 million increase). The hedge reserve 

increased by EUR 1.6 million due to valuation effects (2021: EUR 0.0 million increase). There was no hedge ineffectiveness in 2022 

(2021: no hedge ineffectiveness). 

  

Reserve for own shares (treasury shares) 

The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the shares held by the Company for issuance of share dividend and the remuneration packages 

for the Executive Board. At 31 December 2022, the Company held 88,316 of its own shares (2021: 93,663). 
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Other reserves 

Other reserves are all the reserves other than those shown separately and primarily represent the accumulated, undistributed profits from previous 

financial years. 

 

Retained earnings 

In 2022, the result for 2021 was fully transferred to other reserves. Retained earnings in the 2022 financial statements consequently consist solely 

of the result for 2022. 

 

Dividends 

The following dividends were paid by the Company for the year: 

 

EUR million 2022  2021  

0.69 euro per qualifying ordinary share (2021: 0.40) 10.2  5.9 

After the reporting date, the following dividends were proposed by the Executive Board. The dividends have not been recognized as liabilities and 

there are no tax consequences. 

 

EUR million 2022  2021  

0.72 euro per qualifying ordinary share (2021: 0.69) 10.8 10.3 

Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 

The calculation of the basic earnings per share at 31 December 2022 is based on the profit for the period of EUR -46.3 million (2021: EUR 14.4 million) 

attributable to the holders of ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 2022: 14,965,000 

(2021: 14,816,000). 

 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (46.3) 14.4 

11

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Annual Integrated Report 2022 152

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

NOTES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

In thousands of shares 2022  2021 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January  14,935  14,934 

Effect of shares issued as share dividend  180  1 

Ordinary shares outstanding at 31 December  15,115  14,935  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares entitled to dividend  14,965  14,816 

Basic earnings per share (EUR), based on ordinary shares outstanding at 31 December (3.06) 0.96 

Basic earnings per share (EUR), based on weighted average (3.09) 0.97 

Diluted earnings per share 

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2022 is based on the profit of EUR -46.3 million (2021: EUR 14.4 million) attributable  

to the holders of ordinary shares and the weighted average numbers of shares during the year after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares of 14,969,000 (2021: 14,819,000).  

  

EUR million 2022  2021 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  (46.3)  14.4 

Effect of dilution  (0.0) (0.0) 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)  (46.3) 14.4  

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 	  

In thousands of shares 2022  2021 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares entitled to dividend  14,965  14,816 

Weighted average numbers of ordinary shares (diluted)  15,158  14,819 

Basic earnings per share (EUR), based on weighted average (diluted) (3.05) 0.97 
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Loans and borrowings 
This note contains information on the contractual provisions of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are carried at amortized cost. 

For further information on the interest rates, and the currency and liquidity risks borne by the Group, see note 18 and accounting policy q. 

 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Non-current liabilities 

Bank syndicate loans  82.5  120.0 

Schuldschein loans 	 72.1 –

Lease liabilities 	   		   9.7 12.5

Mortgage loans      –  0.0

Other loans  2.3  3.9 

 166.6  136.4  

EUR million 2022  2021 

Current liabilities 

Current portion lease liabilities  3.5  2.7 

Current portion mortgage loans  –   0.8 

Current portion loans  4.9  3.2 

 8.4  6.7  

Refinancing 2022 

Schuldschein loans 

On 14 April 2022, Kendrion Finance BV successfully completed a EUR 72.5 million transaction in the Schuldschein private placement market.  

The proceeds of these loans were predominately used to repay a portion of the then existing credit facility. The Schuldschein loans exist out of  

a EUR 52.5 million loan maturing in 5 years and EUR 20 million maturing in 3 years. The interest rates on the loans are based on 6-month Euribor plus  

a margin (between 1.0% – 1.25%). The margin is linked to the ESG score of the Kendrion Group as rated by Ecovadis. From 2023 onwards,  

an increase in ESG rating of 10 percent points or more results in a 5 basis point decrease of the margin. Vice versa, a 5 percent point decrease in  

ESG score, results in a 5 basis points margin increase. 

 

The loans include a financial covenant relating to the leverage ratio. The leverage ratio (calculated as interest bearing debt / normalized EBITDA) should 

remain below 3.25, which under certain circumstances can be temporarily increased to a maximum of 3.75. This covenant is tested quarterly on a 

12-month rolling basis. The actual leverage ratio at year-end was 2.4 (2021: 2.3). A reconciliation of normalized EBITDA can be found on page 210-211. 
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Revolving credit facility agreement 

On 29 April 2022, Kendrion agreed upon a revolving credit facility agreement of EUR 102.5 million with ING Bank and HSBC. The credit facility has a 

maturity of 3 years, with two one-year extension options. Immediately after the signing of the new facility an amount of EUR 80.0 million was drawn. 

These proceeds were primarily used to repay the remaining amount under the then existing credit facility, which was subsequently cancelled.  

The interest rates on the loans are based on 3-month Euribor plus a margin (between 0.7% and 1.85%). The margin is based on the leverage ratio of 

the Group. In addition, the interest rates are linked to the ESG score of the Kendrion Group, via the same mechanism as the Schuldschein loans. 

 

The facility agreement includes an option for Kendrion to request to increase the facility of maximum EUR 50 million (incremental facility). In case 

Kendrion requests an incremental facility, the terms and conditions of this facility are agreed upon separately between Kendrion and the lenders.  

In addition, the facility agreement allows the Group to attract designated additional alternative sources of debt funding. 

 

The leverage ratio covenant is the same as for the Schuldschein loans. 

 

Credit lines 

At 31 December 2022, the Group had the following credit lines available: 

	■ EUR 102.5 million revolving Credit Facility with a syndicate of two banks consisting of HSBC and ING Bank. The Credit Facility is committed until 

April 2025 with two one-year extension options and includes an option (accordion option) to increase the facility by a maximum of EUR 62.5 million 

and the possibility to attract additional alternative sources of debt funding; 

	■ EUR 72.5 million Schuldschein private placement loans;  

	■ EUR 13.2 million in leases for buildings, various equipment and vehicles;  

	■ EUR 4.4 million other loans acquired through business combinations in 2020, with maturities in 2022 – 2026; 

	■ EUR 3.5 million in other overdraft facilities. 

 

At 31 December 2022, the total unutilised amount of the facilities was approximately EUR 20 million. 

 

Security provided 

A positive pledge is in place for the EUR 102.5 million revolving Credit Facility.  

 

Interest-rate sensitivity 

Interest amounts payable on the EUR 102.5 million revolving Credit Facility and Schuldschein loans are based on short-term interest rate (three and six 

months). The floating rates are partly fixed by means of interest rate swaps. 

The other loans of EUR 4.4 million and leases of EUR 13.2 million both have fixed interest rates. 
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Lease liabilities 

The lease liabilities are payable as follows: 

 

EUR million 2022 2021 

< 1 year  3.5  2.7 

1 - 5 years  7.9  10.7 

> 5 years  1.8  1.8 

 13.2  15.2  

The lease liabilities mostly relate to leases for various buildings & vehicles. 

 

Buildings 

The Group leases properties for its offices and manufacturing facilities. Some lease arrangements contain conditions to revise the rentals based on 

changes of indices. The leases run for a period between 3 and 15 years. Majority of the leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional 

period after the contract term. Key assumption as applied by the Group is that all renewal options, which can be exercised within the mid-term plan 

period of five years and very likely to be exercised, are taken into consideration on top of the non-cancellable period of the lease. 

 

Vehicles and equipment 

The Group leases equipment with terms of two to five years. Based on experience the likelihood that these lease arrangements are extended for  

a substantial period (> three months) is remote. Due to this no periods after the non-cancellable period of the lease are taken into consideration. 

 
Employee benefits 
EUR million 2022   2021 

Present value of unfunded obligations 8.0 11.2 

Present value of funded obligations 1.2 1.3 

Fair value of plan assets (0.8) (0.9) 

Recognized net liability for defined benefit obligations 8.4 11.6 

Liability for long-service leave and anniversaries  2.3 2.4 

Total employee benefits 10.7  14.0  
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The table shows a reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances for the net defined benefit liability and its components: 

  

 Defined benefit obligation  Fair value of plan assets  Net defined benefit liability 

EUR million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 January 12.5 13.8 0.9 0.9 11.6 12.9 

Included in statement  

of comprehensive income 

Current service cost 0.0 0.1 – – 0.0 0.1 

Past service cost – – – – – – 

Interest cost (income) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 

0.1  0.1  0.0  0.0  0.1  0.1  

Included in OCI 

Remeasurement loss (gain): 

- Actuarial loss (gain) arising from: 

- Demographic assumptions (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 – 0.0 

- Financial assumptions (2.3) (0.4) – – (2.3) (0.4) 

- Experience adjustment 0.3 (0.2) – – 0.3 (0.2) 

- �Return on plan assets excluding  

interest income – – – – – – 

Effect of movements in exchange rates – – – – – – 

2.1  (0.6)  (0.1)  0.0  (2.0)  (0.6)  

Other 

Contributions paid by the employer – – – – – – 

Benefits paid (1.3) (0.8) (0.0) (0.0) (1.3) (0.8) 

(1.3) (0.8)  (0.0) (0.0)   (1.3) (0.8)  

Balance at 31 December 9.2  12.5  0.8   0.9 8.4  11.6  

Actuarial calculations of employee benefits have not been materially influenced by amendments based on historical experience or by variable assumptions. 

 

The Group contributes to the following post-employment defined benefits plans in several countries, mainly in Germany. Below the characteristics of  

the major plans are included. 

 

	■ A direct commitment in the form of capital has been agreed upon with the employees, who directly receive this commitment as an one-off payment 

upon retirement. An alternative version is a plan where the employees receive monthly payments instead of an one-off payment. The plans are 

reviewed on periodic basis.  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Annual Integrated Report 2022 157

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

NOTES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



	■ The DB plan entitles a retired employee to receive a monthly pension payment. The amount of these payments is based on individual contracts with 

the respective employee. The person has to be employed for a certain time. Each further year of employment the employee receives an amount in 

addition to the contractual fixed amount.  

 

The defined benefit plans are administered by multiple pension funds which are legally separated from the Group. The board of the pension fund is 

required to act in the best interest of the plan participants and is responsible for setting certain policies (e.g. investment, contribution and indexation 

policies) of the fund. 

 

The defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk and market (investment) risk. 

 

The expenses relating to the defined benefit pension arrangements are included in the following line items of the statement of comprehensive income: 

 

Expense recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income regarding defined benefit arrangements 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Staff costs 0.0 0.1 

Net finance costs  0.1 0.0 

0.1  0.1  

Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages)  

 2022  2021 

Discount rate at 31 December 3.7% 0.7% 

Future salary increases 1.4% 1.0% 

Future pension increases 2.1% 1.6% 

 

Composition plan assets  

EUR million 2022  2021 

Bonds 0.8 0.8 

Equity 0.0 0.0 

Real estate 0.0 0.0 

Government loans 0.0 0.1 

Total 0.8  0.9  
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Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have 

affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below. 

 

Sensitivity analysis  Defined benefit obligation 

EUR million  Increase   Decrease  

Discount rate (0.5 percent) (0.3) 0.4 

Future salary growth (1.0 percent) 0.3 (0.3) 

Future pension (1.0 percent) 0.6 (0.5) 

Future mortality (1.0 percent) (0.0) 0.0 

 

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plans, it does provide an approximation  

of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown. The method for preparing the sensitivity analyses did not changed from prior year. 

 

Assumptions regarding future longevity have been based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

 

At 31 December 2022, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 7.5 years (2021: 9.1 years). The expected payment for 2023 

amounts to EUR 1.2 million (2022: EUR 1.8 million). 

 

Liabilities arising from employee benefits 

The pension plans included defined contribution plans as well as defined benefit plans. In the case of defined contribution plans, the contribution is 

charged to the year to which it relates. With defined benefit plans, benefit obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit method. Calculations 

are made by qualified actuaries. The pension liability shown in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation at the financial position date minus the fair value of the plan assets at this date. The discount rate methodology for accounting long-term 

employee benefits in accordance with IAS 19 is determined by the Executive Board. Significant judgement is required when setting the criteria for bonds 

to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The most significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the 

issue size of the corporate bonds, quality of the bonds and the identification of outliers which are excluded. The discount rate used to calculate the 

defined benefit obligation is based on the yield on corporate bonds issued in Euros. 

Since the pension arrangements involve long-term obligations and uncertainties, it is necessary to make assumptions in order to estimate the amount 

that the Group needs to invest to fund its pension obligations. External actuaries calculate the obligation for defined benefit plans partly on the basis  

of information provided by the Executive Board, such as future pay rises, the return on plan assets, mortality tables and the probable extent to which 

pension scheme members will leave the scheme because they have reached retirement age, become incapacitated or left the Group. 

 

The greater part of the defined benefit obligation at year-end 2022 relates to post employment arrangements in Germany. The group companies 

account individually for the pension schemes. The individual group company is fully liable for its benefit obligation. A portion for the German group 

companies is reinsured. All pension arrangements accounted for as defined benefit obligations are not open for new participants (< 15% active 

participants). 
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Liabilities arising from employee benefits also include liabilities relating to long-service, early retirement and service anniversaries of EUR 2.3 million  

(2021: EUR 2.4 million) in Germany. 

 

Share-based payments 
At 31 December 2022, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements. 

 

Share plan for the Executive Board (equity settled) 

Details of the remuneration of the Executive Board are provided in note 30. 

 

Share plan for the Management and Leadership Team (equity settled) 

In 2022, 25,918 conditional performance shares were granted to the Management Team (2021: 36,036). The conditional performance shares granted in 

2022 to the Management Team and Leadership Team will vest upon achievement of performance measured over a three-year period (2021-2023). The 

number of conditional shares granted is calculated on the basis of the average share price during Q4 2021, which amounts to EUR 20.44. 

  

Provisions 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Balance at 1 January  2.1 2.2 

Provisions made during the period  3.4 0.5 

Provisions transferred/used during the period  (3.5) (0.6) 

Provisions released during the period  –  (0.0) 

Balance at 31 December  2.0 2.1  

Non-current portion  0.7 0.9 

The provisions consist of a restructuring provision of EUR 1.0 million (2021: EUR 0.5 million). The remainder of the restructuring provision is expected to 

be used in the course of 2023, however the exact timing is not known yet. 
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Contract liabilities  
EUR million 2022  2021 

Balance at 1 January   4.5  5.5 

Consideration received   0.4   – 

Recognized as revenue in the period   (0.2) (1.0) 

Balance at 31 December  4.7  4.5  

The contract liabilities relate to long-term advance consideration received from customers for investments made in equipment in order to fulfil the 

obligations according to the contract. Considerations are received and based on a mark-up on top of contractual agreed piece price during a certain 

period of time. Recognition is consistent with the Group’s transfer of the related goods to the customer and released to profit or loss on a systematic 

basis that is consistent with depreciation and amortization of related equipment. 

 

Trade and other payables 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Trade payables  54.9  51.6 

Other taxes and social security contributions  1.8  1.5 

Derivatives used for hedging – 0.1 

Non-trade payables  6.4  6.5 

Accrued expenses  15.2  14.6 

 78.3  74.3  

Accrued expenses relate to numerous other liabilities such as personnel-related liabilities (holiday allowance, bonus accruals, vacation days) and other 

invoices that are expected but not yet received. 

 

Financial instruments  
Credit risk 

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit risk. The maximum credit risk on the reporting date was as follows: 

 

EUR million 2022   2021 

Cash and cash equivalents 37.8 18.6 

Other long-term investments 0.4 0.4 

Current income tax 2.8 2.7 

Trade and other receivables 70.5 65.3 

Total 111.5  87.0  
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Impairment losses 

Aging analysis of the trade and other receivables 

2022 2021  

EUR million Gross Provision Gross Provision  

Within the term of payment 60.5 – 56.2 –  

0 – 30 days due 7.0 – 6.5 –  

31 – 60 days due 1.4 – 1.7 –  

> 60 days due 1.8 (0.2) 1.3 (0.4)    

Total trade and other receivables 70.7  (0.2)  65.7  (0.4)   

 

The provision for trade receivables is used to absorb impairment losses, unless the Group is certain that collection of the amount owed is impossible,  

in which case the amount is treated as a bad debt and written off against the financial asset in question. 

 

At 31 December 2022, the provision for impairment losses on trade and other receivables relates to several customer invoices that the Group believes 

to be non-collectible, in whole or in part. Based on historic payment behaviour and financial information currently known all receivables that are not 

impaired at 31 December 2022 are collectible. This system is in line with the cash shortfall model as described in IFRS 9. EUR 3.2 million of trade 

receivables are more than 30 days overdue (2021: EUR 3.0 million), of which EUR 0.2 million is provided for (2021: EUR 0.4 million). The Group has 

written off EUR 0.2 million receivables in 2022 (2021: EUR 0.2 million), which are recognized under other operating expenses in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 

The customer with the largest trade receivables outstanding accounted for 4% of the trade and other receivables at 31 December 2022 (2021: 7%). 

The geographical credit risk from the Group’s direct customers is largely concentrated in Germany. However, as the Group’s most important customers 

in the various segments of the German market are multinational or global players this reduces the Group’s dependency on the German market. 
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Credit risk rating grades 

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract assets and financial guarantee contracts, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 

risk by credit risk rating grades on the reporting date was as follows: 

 

31 December 2022     2022 

Note 

External  

credit rating 

Internal  

credit rating 

12-month  

or lifetime ECL 

Gross carrying 

amount 

Loss  

allowance 

Net carrying  

amount 

Trade receivables 7 N/A Low risk1 Lifetime ECL 59.0 (0.2) 58.8 

Contract costs 5 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 0.3 – 0.3 

Equity-accounted investee 3 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 0.0 – 0.0 

Other investments 3 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 0.4 – 0.4 

59.7  (0.2)  59.5  

 

31 December 2021     2021 

Note 

External  

credit rating 

Internal  

credit rating 

12-month  

or lifetime ECL 

Gross carrying 

amount 

Loss  

allowance 

Net carrying  

amount 

Trade receivables 7  N/A   Low risk1  Lifetime ECL  57.2 (0.4) 56.8 

Contract costs 5  N/A   Low risk   Lifetime ECL  0.5 – 0.5 

Equity-accounted investee 3  N/A   Low risk   Lifetime ECL  0.0 – 0.0 

Other investments 3  N/A   Low risk   Lifetime ECL  0.4 – 0.4 

58.1  (0.4)  57.7  

 

Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations at the required time. Liquidity risk management is based on the 

maintenance of sufficient liquidity in the form of unused (committed) credit facilities or cash to meet present and future financial obligations in normal 

and adverse circumstances. 

 

The contractual terms of the financial obligations, including the estimated interest payments and repayment obligations, are set out on the next page.

1 	 Amongst the trade receivables there are a number of items that are considered doubtful
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31 December 2022  

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Bank syndicate loans (82.5) (89.2) (1.4) (1.4) (2.9) (83.5) – 

Schuldschein loans (72.1) (83.1) (1.4) (1.4) (2.9) (77.4) – 

Lease liabilities (13.2) (15.9) (1.4) (1.4) (4.8) (5.9) (2.4) 

Bank overdrafts (3.1) (3.1) (3.1) – – – – 

Other loans and borrowings (7.2) (7.5) (3.4) (0.4) (0.6) (3.1) –  

Trade and other payables  (83.0) (83.0) (83.0) – – – – 

Tax liabilities (10.3) (10.3) (10.3) – – – – 

Derivative financial assets 

Interest rate swap contracts 2.3 1.7 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.1 – 

Forward exchange contracts 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – – – 

Total (273.8)  (293.9) (104.7)  (5.1)  (11.7) (170.0) (2.4) 

31 December 2021  

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Bank syndicate loans (120.0) (123.0) (1.0) (1.0) (121.0) – – 

Lease liabilities (15.2) (17.1) (1.6) (1.4) (4.7) (5.9) (3.5) 

Bank overdrafts (6.1) (6.1) (6.1) – – – – 

Other loans and borrowings (7.9) (8.1) (1.3) (1.3) (3.1) (2.4) – 

Trade and other payables  (78.8) (78.8) (78.8) – – – – 

Tax liabilities (6.0) (6.0) (6.0) – – – – 

 

Derivative financial liabilities 

Interest rate swap contracts (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) (0.0) – – 

Forward exchange contracts (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) – – – 

Total (234.2)  (239.3)  (95.0)  (3.7)  (128.8)  (8.3)  (3.5)  

 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis should occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 
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Within the scope of the Group’s risk management the Group has hedged the currency and interest risks with derivatives, whereby the hedges  

have been designated as cash flow hedges. 

 

Cash flow hedges (in statement of cash flows) 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur. 

 

2022  

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Assets 2.3 1.7 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.1 – 

Liabilities – – – – – – – 

Forward exchange contracts 

Assets 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – – – 

Liabilities – – – – – – – 

Total 2.4 1.8 0.7 0.5 0.5  0.1 – 

 

2021  

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Assets – – – – – – – 

Liabilities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) (0.0) – – 

Forward exchange contracts 

Assets 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 – – – 

Liabilities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) – – – 

Total 0.1  0.1  0.0 0.1  (0.0)  –  –  
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Cash flow hedges (in statement of comprehensive income) 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to impact  

the result. 

 

2022   

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Assets 2.3 1.7 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.1 – 

Liabilities – – – – – – – 

Forward exchange contracts 

Assets 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – – – 

Liabilities – – – – – – – 

Total 2.4 1.8 0.7 0.5 0.5 0.1 – 

	  

2021  

EUR million 

Carrying 

amount 

Contractual  

cash flows 0 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 1 – 2 years 2 – 5 years › 5 years 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Assets – – – – – – – 

Liabilities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) (0.0) – – 

Forward exchange contracts 

Assets 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 – – – 

Liabilities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) – – – 

Total 0.1  0.1  0.0  0.1  (0.0)  –  –  

 

Interest-rate risk 

Part of the Group’s loans is governed by a floating interest rate (usually 3-month EURIBOR). In view of the Treasury Policy, the Group hedges  

at least 50% of the floating interest rate exposure. To this extent the Group has outstanding interest rate swaps with a notional amount of in total  

EUR 70 million (2021: EUR 60 million). The aggregate fair value of the outstanding interest rate swaps at 31 December 2022 was EUR 2.3 million  

(2021: EUR 0.1 million negative). 

 

The following table shows the interest rates prevailing at the financial position date for interest-bearing financial liabilities. The majority of all interest 

expenses relate to senior bank and Schuldschein loans. The effective interest rate of these loans equalises the nominal interest rate. Other loans are not 

provided at an upcount or discount and no incremental transaction costs were incurred when the loans were drawn. The other loans were acquired 

through business combinations in 2020 and initially recorded at fair value. 
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2022  2021  

 Currency 

Nominal  

interest 

Year of  

redemption Fair value 

Carrying  

amount Fair value 

Carrying  

amount 

Bank syndicate loans EUR IBOR + 1.3% 2025 82.5 82.5 120.0 120.0

Schuldschein EUR IBOR + 1.25% 2025-2027 72.1 72.1 – – 

Mortgage loan EUR 6.4% 2022 – – 0.8 0.8 

Other loans EUR 1.4-3.05% 2023-2026 7.2 7.2 7.1 7.1 

Bank overdrafts China CNY PBOC +1.0% 2023 2.7 2.7 2.2 2.2 

Bank overdrafts - other Various IBOR + 0.8-1.6% 2023 0.4 0.4 3.9 3.9 

Lease liabilities  Various 1.5% - 7.8% Various 13.2 13.2 15.2 15.2 

Total interest-bearing debt 178.1 178.1 149.2  149.2  

Sensitivity analysis interest  

Financial assets and liabilities with a fixed interest rate are not recognized at fair value by processing the value changes in profit or loss. For this reason, 

a movement in interest rates across the yield curve at 1 January 2022 would not have had a material effect on the 2022 profit for the period. 

 

The Group has hedged a considerable part of the floating interest rate exposure by means of interest rate swaps. When taking into account these 

swaps and the loans with a fixed rate, in total EUR 105.0 million of the EUR 182.5 million long-term and short-term loans, excluding lease liabilities, at 

financial year-end have an interest rate which is fixed for one year or longer. Based on the interest-bearing debt levels at year-end and expected cash 

flow development, a 1%-point increase in the interest rate across the yield curve as from 1 January 2023, will have an increasing effect on interest 

expenses in 2023 of maximum EUR 1.1 million. 
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Exchange rate risk 

The aggregate fair value of the outstanding forward exchange rate contracts concluded to hedge anticipated transactions was EUR 0.1 million positive 

at 31 December 2022 (2021: positive EUR 0.2 million). 

A 10%-point appreciation of the currencies listed hereafter against the euro would increase shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2022 and the result for 

2022 by the amounts shown in the following table. A 10%-point depreciation of the listed currencies against the euro would have had the opposite 

effect. The same test was done for the profit or loss, where the sensitivities for a 10% appreciation or depreciation on 31 December would have had an 

impact as is shown below. 

  

31 December 2022 Equity  Result 

US dollar  2.8 0.5 

Czech koruna 0.9 (0.3) 

Chinese yuan 5.8 0.1 

Romanian lei 1.8 (0.2) 

Indian rupee 0.3 (0.0) 

31 December 2021 Equity  Result 

US dollar 4.8 0.3 

Czech koruna 0.9 (0.1) 

Chinese yuan 3.8 (0.0) 

Romanian lei 1.5 (0.1) 

Indian rupee 0.4 0.2 

 

Principal exchange rates during the reporting period were as follows: 

 

Applicable currency rates 

Value of EUR  At 31 December 2022 At 31 December 2021 Average over 2022 

Pound sterling 0.8869 0.8403 0.8535 

Czech koruna 24.1161 24.8583 24.5351 

Chinese yuan 7.3582 7.1947 7.0814 

US dollar 1.0666 1.1326 1.0541 

Romanian lei 4.9495 4.9490 4.9350 

Swedish krona 11.1217 10.2503 10.6175 

Indian rupee 88.1679 84.2318 82.7541 
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Fair values of financial instruments 

The following table shows the fair values and carrying amounts of the financial instruments: 

 

2022  2021  

EUR million Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount  Fair value 

Assets carried at amortized costs 

Receivables (including current tax assets) 73.3 73.3 68.0 68.0 

Cash and cash equivalents 37.8 37.8 18.6 18.6 

Held to maturity investments 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 

111.5 111.5 87.0  87.0  

Liabilities carried at amortized costs 

Bank syndicate loans (82.5) (82.5) (120.0) (120.0) 

Schuldschein loans (72.1) (72.1) – – 

Mortgage loan – – (0.8) (0.8) 

Other loans (7.2) (7.2) (7.1) (7.1) 

Lease liabilities (13.2) (13.2) (15.2) (15.2) 

Bank overdraft (3.1) (3.1) (6.1) (6.1) 

Trade and other payables (including current tax liabilities) (93.3) (93.3) (84.8) (84.8) 

(271.4) (271.4) (234.0)  (234.0)  

Assets / (Liabilities) carried at fair value 

Interest derivatives 2.3 2.3 (0.1) (0.1) 

Forward exchange contracts 0.1 0.1 – – 

2.4  2.4 (0.1)  (0.1)  

 

The Group has no available for sale financial assets and all liabilities at fair value were designated as such upon initial recognition.  

The loans and receivables consist of the trade and other receivables, including the current tax assets in the statement of financial position.  

The forward exchange contracts and interest derivatives are included in the trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 
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Interest rate used in measuring fair value 

The interest rate used for discounting estimated cash flows, where applicable, is based on the swap curve at 31 December, augmented by the 

prevailing credit mark-up, and is as follows: 

	  

 2022  2021 

Derivatives 2.2% 0.0% 

Leases 4,3% 1.6% 

Bank syndicate loans 3.5% 1.6% 

Schulschein loans 3.7% – 

Mortgage loans – 1.6% 

Other loans 1.6% 1.6% 

Fair value hierarchy 

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. The fair value calculation method 

of all assets and liabilities carried at amortized costs is categorised in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The table below analyses financial instruments 

carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 

level 1	 quoted prices (unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities); 

level 2	� inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 

(i.e. derived from prices); 

level 3	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

31 December 2022 

Derivative contracts used for hedging – 2.4 – 2.4 

Total –  2.4 – 2.4 

31 December 2021 

Derivative contracts used for hedging – 0.1 – 0.1 

Total –  0.1  –  0.1  

 

Master netting 

The Company has no master netting agreement in place. All derivative instruments are presented individually as either an asset or liability. 
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Leases 
The group leases buildings, cars, office equipment and forklifts. The lease term varies between 3 to 15 years. For buildings an option to renew the lease 

after the lease period is customary. Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented on several places throughout the financial 

statements: 

	■ total cash outflow for leases is included in the consolidated statement of cash flows for repayments of lease liabilities (EUR 3.3 million  

(2021: EUR 3.4 million)) and in note 27 for interest (EUR 0.6 million (2021: EUR 0.7 million)); 

	■ the carrying amount of right-of-use assets at the end of the reporting period by class of underlying assets, addition to these assets and   

the depreciation charge for these assets are included in note 1;  

	■ interest expense on lease liabilities are included in note 26;  

	■ expenses relating to short-term leases or low-value assets amount to EUR 0.3 million (2021: EUR 0.3 million). 

 
Capital commitments 
As at 31 December 2022 the Group had capital commitments totalling to EUR 11.6 million (2021: EUR 7.5 million). 

 
Contingent assets and liabilities 

The Group had guarantees in particular with regard to rentals, financing facilities and post employee benefits totalling to EUR 1.4 million  

(2021: EUR 1.1 million). 

 

Based on the outcome of certain water samples taken in Austria in the area where a Kendrion site is located – the Austrian Federal State government 

commissioned a further environmental investigation at the Kendrion premises in Austria. The water samples taken in the relevant area showed a slight 

above threshold value of Chlorofluorocarbon. An initial environmental investigation was carried out in January 2023. The outcome of the initial 

investigation has been verbally shared during February 2023 and has resulted in findings. Ongoing monitoring will continue for a minimum of one year. 

The findings may or may not result in an obligation for restorative action. No reliable estimation of a possible obligation can be made and therefore no 

provision has been recorded.  

 

The Group has divested itself of a number of companies in the past. The customary representations and warranties for transactions of this nature are 

included in the relevant share or asset purchase agreements. The Group, as is customary for transactions of this nature, also issued representations 

and warranties for potential (tax) claims relating to periods prior to the various divestment dates. 

The Group has a contingent asset amounting to EUR 1.5 million resulting from claims on customers.
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Operating segments 
The Group, in accordance with IFRS 8, has included general and entity-wide disclosures in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Geographical segments based on physical location of the Group operating companies 

The revenue and non-current assets per geographic area are specified below. 

 

 Germany   Other European countries   Asia1  

EUR million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Revenue from transactions with third parties 309.9 262.8 106.2 107.9 51.4 49.4 

Other non-current assets   157.0 206.8 48.8 60.9 35.9 19.6 

Deferred tax assets 8.2 5.8 2.7 4.6 6.2 4.1 

Net liability for defined benefit obligations 8.2 10.9 0.2 0.7  –     – 

 

 The Americas  Consolidated 

EUR million 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Revenue from transactions with third parties 51.8 43.9 519.3 464.0 

Other non-current assets 17.1 18.9 258.8 306.2 

Deferred tax assets 2.6 3.8 19.7 18.3 

Net liability for defined benefit obligations  –     – 8.4 11.6 

 

Revenue segmented by customer location  

EUR million 2022  2021 

Germany 203.6 181.2 

Other European countries 151.1 138.9 

Asia 73.4 67.7 

The Americas 88.4 73.9 

Other countries 2.8 2.3 

Total 519.3 464.0  

 

 

1 	 Mainly related to China 
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Information about reportable segments 

Kendrion has split all activities over two segments: Automotive and Industrial. Based on the structure of the Group and the criteria of IFRS 8 – Operating 

segments, Kendrion has concluded that within this structure Kendrion has four operating segments, the business groups Industrial Brakes and Industrial 

Actuators and Controls and Automotive Core and Automotive E, which are subgroups to the business group Automotive. Based on the aggregation 

criteria of IFRS 8, these operating segments have been aggregated into two reportable segments: Automotive and Industrial. The automotive business 

group develops innovative solutions for passenger cars and commercial vehicles focused on advanced valve technology, smart actuation and control 

technology for the automotive industry. The subgroups Core and E have similar customer base, production process, distribution methods, gross margin 

and regulatory environment and have therefore been aggregated into one reportable segment. The industrial activities of the business units Industrial 

Brakes and Industrial Actuators and Controls focus on developing and manufacturing electromagnetic systems and components for industrial 

applications. These business units also have similar economic characteristics and display a number of similarities with respect to their technology, 

production processes, equipment and customers.

 

Industrial  Automotive  Consolidated  

EUR million  2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Revenue from transactions with third parties  276.5 231.5 242.8 232.5 519.3 464.0 

Inter-segment revenue  0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 

 

EBITDA1   46.9 37.4 (53.5) 14.3 (6.6) 51.7 

EBITDA as a % of revenue  17.0% 16.2% (22.0)% 6.1% (1.3)% 11.1% 

 

Normalized EBITDA1    47.5 39.0 9.9 16.8 57.4 55.8 

Normalized EBITDA as a % of revenue  17.2% 16.8% 4.1% 7.2% 11.1% 12.0% 

 

Reportable segment assets  272.8 267.3 203.8 223.5 476.6 490.8 

Reportable segment employees (FTE)  1,346 1,261 1,407 1,467 2,753 2,728 

 

Disaggregation revenue   

EUR million  2022  2021 

Revenue from serial produced goods 512.2 453.7 

Revenue from engineering and samples  7.1 10.3 

Total  519.3 464.0  

Major customers 

Three customers (Volkswagen and ThyssenKrupp Bilstein in Automotive and Siemens in Industrial) individually account for more than 5% of the 

company’s total revenue. 

1) 	 Non-IFRS financial measure. For the definition and reconciliation of the most directly comparable IFRS measure, refer to reconciliation of non-IFRS information, starting on page 210.
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Business combinations and acquisitions of non-controlling interests 
2022 

No business combinations or acquisitions of non-controlling interests in 2022. 

 

2021 

Business combinations 

On 21 September 2021 Kendrion announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement to acquire 100% of the shares of Twente Technology 

Solutions BV (TTS), who is the 100% shareholder of 3T BV (3T). The total consideration transferred amounted to EUR 23.2 million. TTS/3T were 

included in the Business Group Industrial Actuators and Controls (IAC). There were no changes made to the purchase price allocation in 2022. 

 

3T is an established, specialist developer, manufacturer, distributor, and provider of lifecycle management services for client-specific electronics and 

embedded systems. With facilities in Enschede and Eindhoven, 3T employs some 80 FTE, and realizes around EUR 12 million in annual profitable 

revenues. It offers a strong strategic fit with the control technology activities of Kendrion’s Business Group Industrial Actuators and Controls. 

 

In addition, 3T’s extensive experience in software and electronics development is expected to be strategically important for Kendrion’s Automotive 

Group, where the increasing content of leading-edge electronic components in passenger cars and commercial vehicles, offers a significant growth 

opportunity. 3T’s highly skilled employees and proximity to leading technical universities and other institutions of higher technical education, enhance 

Kendrion’s ability to further build and manage a talented team of software and electronics developers. 

 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

The table on the next page shows the recognized amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date: 

 

 

Carrying 

amount 

Fair value 

adjustments 

Recognized 

value 

Intangible fixed assets – 8.4 8.4 

Property, plant and equipment 2.3 – 2.3 

Inventories and Work-in-progress 1.4 – 1.4 

Trade and other receivables 2.3 – 2.3 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 – 0.5 

Deferred tax liabilities – (2.1) (2.1) 

Provisions (0.2) – (0.2) 

Loans and borrowings (2.5) – (2.5) 

Trade and other payables (1.7) – (1.7) 

Total identifiable net assets 2.1 6.3 8.3 
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Goodwill 

Goodwill was recognized as a result of the acquisition as follows: 

  

Total consideration transferred  23.2 

Fair value of identifiable net assets (8.3) 

Goodwill 14.8  

Other income 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0.5  0.0 

Other  0.0  0.2 

 0.5  0.2  

Staff costs 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Wages and salaries  119.9  107.3 

Social security charges  20.5  18.9 

Temporary personnel  8.2  8.2 

Contributions to defined contribution plans  0.8  0.6 

Expenses related to defined benefit plans  0.0  0.1 

Increase in liability for long-service leave  0.1  0.1 

Other costs of personnel  4.1  2.9 

 153.6  138.1  

Total number of employees and temporary workers at 31 December (FTE)  2,753  2,728 

The number of employees and temporary workers at 31 December 2022 (FTE) working in the Netherlands is 100 (2021: 92). The staff costs 2022 

include EUR 5.3 million costs related to the restructuring measures (2021: EUR 1.4 million). The staff costs 2022 include a EUR 0.8 million government 

grant for R&D activities (2021: -). 
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Other operating expenses 
EUR million 2022  2021 

(Decrease) /Increase in provision for doubtful debts  (0.1) 0.2 

Premises costs  9.1  6.1 

Maintenance expenses  11.1  9.4 

Transport expenses  2.6  2.1 

Consultancy expenses  11.5  8.3 

Sales and promotion expenses  1.4  0.9 

Car, travel and representation costs  3.1  1.7 

Insurance  2.2  2.1 

Other  2.7  1.7 

 43.6  32.5  

The other operating expenses 2022 include EUR 0.6 million costs related to the restructuring measures (2021: EUR -0.7 million one-off costs and 

benefits). 

Research & Development expenses (including staff and other operating expenses) for 2022 totalled EUR 32.4 million (2021: EUR 32.6 million) of which 

EUR 3.0 million is capitalized (2021: EUR 1.1 million). 

 

Net finance costs 
EUR million 2022  2021 

Interest income  0.0  0.0 

Net exchange gain  –    – 

Finance income   0.0   0.0 

Interest expenses  (4.2) (2.9) 

Interest expenses related to lease liabilities  (0.6) (0.7) 

Interest expenses related to employee benefits  (0.1) (0.0) 

Net exchange loss  (0.2) (0.1) 

Finance expense  (5.1) (3.7)  

Net financing costs  (5.1) (3.7)  

The interest expenses 2022 include EUR 0.1 million related to the impact of tax audits (2021: EUR 0.0 million). 
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Income tax 
EUR million 2022   2021  

Current tax charge on year under review (6.6) (5.7) 

Total corporation tax expenses in the income statement (6.6)  (5.7)  

28

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
Reconciliation effective tax rate Reconciliation in EUR million 

 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Profit before income tax  (39.7) 20.1 

Income tax expense at local corporation tax rate  25.8%  25.0% (10.2)  5.0  

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 2.2% 0.6% (0.9) 0.1 

Non-deductible expenses (39.1)% 2.1% 15.4 0.4 

Tax exempt income 0.0% (0.7)% 0.0 (0.1) 

Changes in estimates related to prior years (5.5)% 2.7% 2.2 0.6 

Current-year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized (2.5)% – 1.0 – 

Additional deductible items 1.7% (0.5)% (0.7) (0.1) 

Other movements 0.6% (0.9)% (0.2) (0.2) 

 (16.8)% 28.3%  6.6  5.7  

Related parties 
Identity of related parties 

A related-party relationship exists between the Company and its subsidiaries, their managers and executives. The Company has a number of 

agreements with its subsidiaries relating to the charging of central costs to and from the business units, including management, development, 

information technology and marketing costs, as well as agreements in respect of Group financing and use of intellectual property. Internal supplies  

are also obtained within the business units. Intercompany transactions are effectuated at arm’s length market prices. As all subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated and reflected in these financial statements, the amounts of these transactions are not further specified. For a list of the subsidiaries,  

see pages 206-207. 
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Compensations of key management personnel 

The remuneration of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board is as follows: 

 

EUR thousand 2022  2021 

Short-term benefits 1,491.3 1,656.1 

Post-employment benefits 145.0 141.0 

Other long-term benefits  – – 

Share-based payments 359.7 272.2 

Termination benefits – – 

1,996.0 2,069.3  

The total remuneration is included in staff costs (see note 24). For a description of the remuneration policy of the members of the Executive Board,  

see pages 95-109.

 

The CEO will, based on this performance, receive a variable remuneration of 48.63% of his gross fixed remuneration. The CEO’s gross variable 

remuneration amounts to EUR 267,438 (2021: EUR 429,000) which will be paid in cash. 

The CFO will, based on this performance, receive a variable remuneration of 28.37% of his gross fixed remuneration. The CFO’s gross variable 

remuneration amounts to EUR 95,023 (2021: EUR 141,409) which will be paid in cash. 

 

Kendrion applies a share ownership guideline for members of the Executive Board of 100% of the annual fixed gross base salary for the CEO and 50% 

of the annual fixed gross salary of the CFO. This shareholding has to be gradually built up with performance shares earned under the long-term share 

incentive, subject to the sell-to-cover concept as prescribed by the ‘Share ownership guideline’. 

 

The amount charged to the profit or loss regarding the long-term variable remuneration policy was EUR 359,700 (2021: EUR 272,200). 
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The vesting and holding periods for (conditional) shares awarded to the CEO are specified as follows: 

CEO (J.A.J. van Beurden)  Number of shares Expiry vesting period  Expiry holding period 

2022  16,144 Expiry performance period 2022-2024 End of 2026

2021  20,245 Expiry performance period 2021-2023 End of 2025 

2020  16,533 Expiry performance period 2020-2022 End of 2024 

2019  11,559 Expiry performance period 2019-2021 End of 2023 

2018  6,960 Expiry performance period 2018-2020 End of 2022 

20171    3,383 End of 2019 End of 2021 

CFO (J.H. Hemmen) Number of shares Expiry vesting period  Expiry holding period 

2022  8,194 Expiry performance period 2022-2024 End of 2026

2021 9,533 Expiry performance period 2021-2023 End of 2025 

2020 6,769 Expiry performance period 2020-2022 End of 2024 

2019 2,409 Expiry performance period 2019-2021 End of 2023 

2018 
Not applicable – effective date of appointment to the Executive Board 1 July 2019 

2017 

Pensions 

The Executive Board participates in the defined contribution plan of the Company. For 2022, the contribution to the pension insurer was EUR 37,124  

(2021: EUR 36,226) for the CEO and EUR 27,017 (2021: EUR 26,364) for the CFO. 

  

Transactions with shareholders 

There were no transactions with shareholders, except for the dividend payment, which is disclosed under note 10. 

 

Other related party transactions 

As part of the INTORQ acquisition Kendrion also acquired a Related Party loan. The loan originally amounted to EUR 0.4 million, runs until June 2027 

and has an interest percentage of 2%. As per 31 December 2022 the remaining outstanding amount is EUR 0.2 million (2021: 0.2 million). The loan is 

not secured. 

 

1 	 The long-term incentive scheme for the years 2016 and 2017 is subject to the terms of the remuneration policy applicable immediately prior to the Executive Board 

Remuneration Policy that was adopted in April 2018. 
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Other notes 
The subsidiary Kendrion Holding Germany GmbH, Markdorf, Germany included in these consolidated financial statements makes use of § 264(3) HGB 

(German Commercial Code). In accordance with that rule, the consolidated financial statements of Kendrion Holding Germany GmbH as of  

31 December 2020 were not published. A complete list of all subsidiaries is available from the Amtsgericht in Freiburg im Breisgau (number HRB 

704749) and from the Company offices. The following German legal entities are consolidated in these consolidated financial statements: Kendrion 

(Villingen) GmbH, Kendrion (Donaueschingen/Engelswies) GmbH, Kendrion (Markdorf) GmbH, Kendrion Kuhnke GmbH, Kendrion Kuhnke Automation 

GmbH, Kendrion Kuhnke Automotive GmbH, Kendrion FAS Controls Holding GmbH, Kendrion INTORQ GmbH, INTORQ Beteiligungs-GmbH, Kendrion 

IP Management GmbH and Ochrea Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh & Co Vermietungs KG. 

The subsidiary Kendrion (UK) Ltd. (registration number 1124810), Bradford, United Kingdom included in these consolidated financial statements is 

exempt from the requirements of section 479A (audit of accounts) of the Companies Act 2006. 

  

Post-balance sheet events 
There were no post/balance sheet events that have to be taken into account in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended  

31 December 2022. 
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Note EUR million 2022  2021

 

Fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment  0.6 0.7

Intangible assets  0.0 0.1

Other investments, including derivatives  0.2 0.3

1.3 Financial fixed assets  221.2 259.5

Total non-current assets  222.0 260.6 

Current assets

1.4 Receivables  1.0 0.5

Cash and cash equivalents  0.0 0.0

Total current assets  1.0 0.5 

Total assets  223.0 261.1 

1.5 Equity 

Share capital  30.2 29.9

Share premium  38.4 45.8

Legal reserves  19.0 13.6

Other reserves  133.7 119.3

Retained earnings  (46.3) 14.4

Total equity  175.0 223.0 

1.6 Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings  46.3 36.3

Payables  1.7 1.8

Total current liabilities  48.0 38.1 

Total equity and liabilities  223.0 261.1 

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 

(before profit appropriation)
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COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

Note EUR million 2022  2021

Revenue  –  –

1.8 Other income  5.4 5.4

Total revenue and other income  5.4 5.4 

1.9 Staff costs  5.0 4.6

Depreciation and amortization  0.1 0.1

Other operating expenses  1.8 1.3

Result before net finance costs  (1.5) (0.6) 

Finance income  – 0.1

Finance expense  (1.6) (1.4)

Profit before income tax  (3.1)  (1.9)

 

Income tax expense  (1.1) 0.1

Profit for the period  (4.2) (1.8) 

Share in results of Group companies after tax (42.1) 16.2

1.10 Net profit  (46.3) 14.4 
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Notes to the company financial statements 
General 

The Company financial statements are part of the 2022 financial statements of Kendrion N.V. (the ‘Company’). The Company is registered  

at the Chamber of Commerce in The Netherlands under number: 30113646. 

 

Principles of valuation of assets and liabilities and determination of results 

In selecting the principles employed in the company financial statements for the valuation of assets and liabilities and determination of results,  

Kendrion N.V. has made use of the option provided by Section 362, subsection 8, of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. Consequently,  

the principles employed in the Company financial statements of Kendrion N.V. for the valuation of assets and liabilities and determination of results  

(the ‘accounting policies’) are identical to those employed in the consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements. Interests in entities in which Kendrion N.V. 

has significant influence are measured using the equity method. The consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements have been prepared in accordance  

with the standards adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board as endorsed for use in the European Union (hereinafter referred to as 

‘EU-IFRS’). These policies are discussed in notes a – r. 

 

Financial fixed assets 

EUR million 

Interest in Group 

companies 

Loans to Group 

companies Deferred tax Total 2022 Total 2021 

Carrying amount at 1 January  257.4   –    2.1   259.5  234.9 

Results of Group companies  (42.1)   –    –    (42.1)  16.2 

Movements in deferred tax assets  –    –    (1.0)  (1.0) 0.0 

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  1.8   –    –    1.8  7.8 

Other movements  3.0   –    –    3.0  0.6 

Carrying amount at 31 December  220.1   –    1.1   221.2  259.5  

Receivables			    

EUR million 2022  2021 

Receivables from Group companies  0.6  0.2 

Prepayments and accrued income  0.4  0.3 

 1.0   0.5 

All receivables are due within one year. 

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Equity 

EUR million 

 Share  

capital  

Share  

premium 

Translation 

reserve 

Hedge  

reserve  

Reserve for 

participations 

Reserve for  

own shares  

Other  

reserves 

Retained 

earnings Total 2022 Total 2021 

Balance at 1 January  29.9   45.8   7.6   0.2   5.8   (1.9)  121.2   14.4   223.0  203.4 

Appropriation of retained earnings  –    –    –    –    –    –    14.4   (14.4)  –   – 

Foreign currency translation differences  

for foreign operations  –    –    1.8   –    –    –    –    –    1.8  7.8 

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges,  

net of income tax  –    –    –    1.6   –    –    –    –    1.6  0.1 

Issue of ordinary shares  0.3   2.8   –    –    –    –    –    –     3.1  0.0 

Own shares issued  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   1.6 

Share-based payment transactions  –    –    –    –    –    0.1   0.4   –    0.5  1.1 

Dividends to equity holders  –    (10.2)  –    –    –    –    –    –    (10.2) (5.9) 

Other  –    –    –    –    2.0   –    (0.5)  –    1.5  – 

Total recognized income and expenses  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (46.3)   (46.3)  14.4 

Balance at 31 December  30.2   38.4   9.4   1.8   7.8   (1.8)  135.5   (46.3)   175.0  223.0  

Share capital 

The authorized capital of the Company amounts to EUR 80 million, divided into 40 million ordinary shares of EUR 2.00, of which 15,114,621 ordinary 

shares have been issued (2021: 14,934,735). 

 

Share premium 

The share premium represents revenue from shares issued at more than their nominal value (issued above par). The issued and paid share capital, 

including share premium, is fiscally recognized capital. 

 

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries outside  

the euro zone. Gains and losses relating to the translation risk are recognized in equity. The build-up of the cumulative figure commenced  

on 1 January 2004. 

 

Hedge reserve 

The hedge reserve comprises the effective share of the cumulative net movement in the fair value of cash-flow hedging instruments relating  

to hedged transactions that have not yet been executed. 
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Statutory reserve for participations 

This reserve pertains to participating interests that are accounted for according to the equity accounting method. The reserve represents the difference 

between the participating interests’ retained profit and direct changes in equity, as determined on the basis of the Company’s accounting policies, and 

the share thereof that the Company may distribute. It is shown as the share in the undistributed results of the subsidiaries since they were first valued 

using the equity method. The amount of any dividend – from these subsidiaries – to which there is an entitlement on adoption of the financial statements 

is deducted from this reserve. 

 

Reserve for own shares 

The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company shares that are held by the Company for the remuneration package for 

the Executive Board. At 31 December 2022, the Company held 88,316 of its own shares (2021: 93,663). 

 

Other reserves 

Other reserves are all the reserves other than those shown separately and comprise primarily the cumulative, undistributed profits from previous financial 

years. 

 

Retained earnings 

In 2022, the full result for 2021 was included in other reserves. Retained earnings consequently consist solely of the result for 2022. 

 

Current liabilities		   

EUR million 2022  2021 

Debts to Group companies  45.8  35.7 

Lease liability  0.5  0.6 

Trade payables  0.7  0.5 

Other payables and accrued expenses   1.0  1.3 

 48.0  38.1  

Financial instruments 

See note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for details on financial instruments. 

 

Other income 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Management fee  5.4  5.4 

Other  –   – 

 5.4  5.4  

1.5.5

1.5.6

1.5.7

1.5.8

1.6

1.7

1.8
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Staff costs		   

EUR million 2022  2021 

Wages and salaries  4.1  3.8 

Social security charge  0.2  0.2 

Pension costs  0.5  0.4 

Other costs of personnel  0.2   0.2 

 5.0  4.6  

Total number of employees and temporary workers at 31 December (FTE)  18  16 

The Company has only defined contribution plans for its employees. 

 

Profit appropriation 

Appropriation of net profit 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Net profit  (46.3) 14.4 

The Executive Board has decided, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, that the net profit of EUR -46.3 million will be added to the other 

reserves. 

 

Commitments not appearing on the balance sheet 

Joint and several liability and guarantees 

The Company and its Group companies have issued guarantees mainly in the context of the financing by financial institutions.  

The Company has issued declarations of joint and several liability, as referred to in Section 403 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, for: 

	■ Combattant Holding B.V., Zeist; 

	■ Kendrion Finance B.V., Zeist; 

	■ Twente Technology Solutions B.V., Enschede; 

	■ 3T B.V., Enschede. 

 

Kendrion N.V. has a guarantee which relates to the rent of the office in Amsterdam totalling to EUR 0.0 million. 

 

Fiscal unity 

The Company and its Dutch subsidiaries excluding Landfort II B.V.,Twente Technology B.V. and 3T B.V. form a tax group for corporation tax purposes.  

A request has been submitted to the Dutch tax authorities to include Kendrion Marketing B.V. to the fiscal unity per October 1, 2022. According to the 

standard terms, each of the companies is jointly and severally liable for corporation tax payable by all the members of the fiscal unity. 

1.9
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Post-balance sheet events 

There were no post-balance sheet events that have to be taken into account in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended  

31 December 2022. 

 

Fees to the auditor 

With reference to Section 2:382a of the Netherlands Civil Code, the following fees have been charged by Deloitte Accountants B.V. and its member 

firms and affiliates in 2022 and 2021 to the Company, its subsidiaries and other consolidated entities: 

2022 2021 

EUR thousand 

Deloitte  

Accountants B.V. 

Other Deloitte 

member firms  

and affiliates 

Total  

Deloitte 

Deloitte  

Accountants B.V. 

Other Deloitte 

member firms  

and affiliates 

Total  

Deloitte 

Audit of financial statements 488.1 375.0 863.1 300.3 342.0 642.3 

Other assurance services 31.0 – 31.0 33.2 – 33.2 

Tax advisory services – – – – – – 

Other non-audit services – – – – – – 

Total 519.1 375.0 894.1 333.5 342.0  675.5 

Remuneration of and share ownership by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 

Remuneration of the Executive Board 

The remuneration of current Executive Board members charged to the Company and Group companies, including pension expenses as referred to in 

Section 383, subsection 1, of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, amounted to EUR 1,785,000 (2021: EUR 1,897,300). This remuneration is as 

follows: 

 

2022 2021 

EUR thousand J.A.J. van Beurden J. H. Hemmen  Total J.A.J. van Beurden J. H. Hemmen  Total 

Fixed remuneration  550.0  335.0  885 550.0 310.8 860.8 

Short-term variable remuneration  267.4  95.0  362 429.0 141.4 570.4 

Long-term variable remuneration  255.2  104.5  360 190.9 81.3 272.2 

Total remuneration  1,073  534  1,607 1,169.9  533.5 1,703.4 

Pension and other expenses  80  98  178 90.4 103.5 193.9 

 1,153  632  1,785 1,260.3  637.0  1,897.3  
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The 2022 short-term variable remuneration will be paid in cash after income tax. 

 

For more information on the long-term variable remuneration see pages 178-179. 

 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

The total remuneration of current and former Supervisory Board members in 2022 amounts to EUR 211 thousand (2021: EUR 172 thousand). 

This remuneration is as follows: 

 

EUR thousand 2022  2021  

Supervisory Board Members: 

H. ten Hove (stepped down as from 1 April 2021)  –    12  

F. van Hout (appointed as of 1 April 2021)  65   38  

M.J.G. Mestrom  49   41  

J.T.M. van der Meijs  49   41  

E. M. Doll  48   40  

 211   172  

No loans, advances or related guarantees have been given to the Executive Board or Supervisory Board members. 

 

Share ownership by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 

  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

Executive Board J.A.J. van Beurden   36,867 34,556 

J.H. Hemmen   4,090 3,609 

Supervisory Board F. van Hout  7,300 – 

 

Amsterdam, February 28, 2023 

 

Executive Board		  Supervisory Board 

J.A.J. van Beurden 	 F. van Hout 

J.H. Hemmen		  M.J.G. Mestrom 

			   J.T.M. van der Meijs 

			   E.M. Doll 
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Provisions in the Articles of Association governing the appropriation of profit
Under article 35.1 and 35.2 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Executive Board shall, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 

determine which part of the profits is added to the reserves. The profit remaining after transfer to the reserves is available to the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. The Company can only make payments to the shareholders and other parties entitled to the distributable profit insofar as the 

shareholders’ equity exceeds the paid-up and called-up part of the capital plus the statutory reserves and exceeds the amounts resulting from  

the distribution test, performed by the Executive Board at the date of each dividend payment.
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Independent auditor’s report
 

To the shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Kendrion N.V. 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2022 included in the annual report  

 

Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 2022 of Kendrion N.V., based in Amsterdam. The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial 

statements and the company financial statements. 

 

In our opinion: 

	■ The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Kendrion N.V. as at December 31, 2022, 

and of its result and its cash flows for 2022 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 

(EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;  

	■ The accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Kendrion N.V. as at December 31, 2022, and 

of its result for 2022 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

1.	 The consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022.

2.	� The following statements for 2022: the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows.

3.	 The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The company financial statements comprise: 

1.	 The company balance sheet as at December 31, 2022.

2.	 The company profit and loss account for 2022.

3.	 The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

 

Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.

We are independent of Kendrion N.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, 

the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-

opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations 

in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).
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We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information in support of our opinion

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon. The following 

information in support of our opinion was addressed in this context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters.

 

Materiality 

Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at EUR 1,500,000 (2021: EUR 1,500,000). 

The materiality is consistently based on 7.5% of profit before tax. The impact of the impairment charge relating to the goodwill of Automotive Core and 

restructuring charges as a result of split of the Automotive Group into Automotive Core and Automotive E have not been included in the basis for the 

determination of the materiality because of its incidental nature. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in 

our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible 

misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.

Component audits are performed using materiality levels determined by the judgement of the group audit team, considering materiality for  

the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the reporting structure of the group. Component materiality did not exceed EUR 787,500.

We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of EUR 75,000, which are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, 

as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 

 

Scope of the group audit 

Kendrion N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included in the consolidated financial statements 

of Kendrion N.V.

In establishing the overall group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at the components by the group 

engagement team and by the auditors of the components. We directed and supervised the work of our component auditors as part of the group audit. 

Our group audit mainly focused on significant group entities in terms of size and financial interest, significant risk or where complex activities are present. 

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, together with additional procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain 

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the consolidated financial statements.

With the lifting of the majority of the COVID-19 related travel restrictions we were able to perform several site visits in which we spoke to local 

management and our component teams. For the components we didn’t visit we had extensive contact both with our component auditors throughout 

the year and attended meeetings with local management.
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Audit approach fraud risks 

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we obtained an understanding 

of the entity and its environment and the components of the system of internal control, including the risk assessment process and management’s 

process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of internal control and how the supervisory board exercises oversight, as well  

as the outcomes.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the system of internal control and in particular the fraud risk assessment, as well as among others  

the code of conduct, whistle blower procedures and incident registration. We evaluated the design and the implementation and, where considered 

appropriate, tested the operating effectiveness, of internal controls designed to mitigate fraud risks. 

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and 

bribery and corruption. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement due fraud is present. In line with last two years 

we involved forensic specialists who performed these procedures in close co-operation with us.

We performed, amongst others, the following specific procedures together with our component auditors:

	■ We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We also considered the outcome of our audit procedures and evaluated whether any 

findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance;

	■ We considered available information and made enquiries with management, those charged with governance and with others within the company, 

including but not limited to, e.g. General Counsel, Global Internal Audit & Risk Manager, Compliance Officer and Controllers;

	■ We tested the appropriateness of journal entires recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial 

statements;

	■ Our Forensic Specialists were involved in the oversight of several components and were present during a number of file reviews, which are selected 

based on complexity, risk and/or size;

	■ 	We evaluated whether the selection and application of accounting policies by the group, particularly those related to subjective measurements and 

complex transactions, may be indicative of fraudulent financial reporting;

	■ We evaluated whether the judgments and decisions made by management in making the accounting estimates included in the financial statements 

indicate a possible bias that may represent a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. Management insights, estimates and assumptions that 

might have a major impact on the financial statements are disclosed in notes to the consolidated financial statements. We performed a retrospective 

review of management judgments and assumptions related to significant accounting estimates reflected in prior year financial statements. 

Impairment testing of intangible and fixed assets is a significant area to our audit as the determination whether these assets are not carried at more 

than their recoverable amounts is subject to significant management judgment. Reference is made to the section ‘Our key audit matters’. 

 

This did not lead to indications for fraud potentially resulting in material misstatements.

 

Annual Integrated Report 2022 192
OTHER INFORMATIONOTHER INFORMATION

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

Notes to the  
consolidated financial 

statements

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Audit approach compliance with laws and regulations 

We assessed the laws and regulations relevant to the Company through discussion with relevant employees (like Chief Financial Officer, General and 

Legal Counsel and Global Internal Audit & Risk Manager), discussion with component teams, reading minutes and reports of internal audit and obtained 

lawyers letters. We involved our forensic specialists in this evaluation. 

As a result of our risk assessment procedures, and while realizing that the effects from non-compliance could considerably vary, we considered the 

following laws and regulations: adherence to (corporate) tax law and financial reporting regulations, the requirements under the International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code with a direct effect on the financial 

statements as an integrated part of our audit procedures, to the extent material for the related financial statements.

We obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding provisions of those laws and regulations generally recognized to have a direct effect  

on the financial statements.

Apart from these, Kendrion N.V. is subject to other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material effect on 

amounts and/or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance, through imposing fines or litigation. Our procedures are more limited with respect 

to these laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the determination of the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

Compliance with these laws and regulations may be fundamental to the operating aspects of the business, to Kendrion N.V.’s ability to continue its 

business, or to avoid material penalties (e.g., compliance with the terms of operating licenses and permits or compliance with environmental regulations) 

and therefore non-compliance with such laws and regulations may have a material effect on the financial statements. Our responsibility is limited to 

undertaking specified audit procedures to help identify non-compliance with those loaws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial 

statements. Our procedures are limited to (i) inquiry of management, the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board and others within Kendrion N.V. as to 

whether Kendrion N.V. is in compliance with such laws and regulations and (ii) inspeciting correspondence, if any, with the relevant licensing or 

regulatory authorities to help identify non-compliance with those laws and regulations that mau have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Naturally, we remained alert to indications of (suspected) non-compliance throughout the audit. In addition to the aforementioned we used a specific 

artificial intelligence solution which automatically analyzes worldwide news about Kendrion.

Finally, we obtained written representations that all known instances of (suspected) fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations have been 

disclosed to us. 

Audit approach going concern 

Under the going concern basis of accounting, the financial statements are prepared on the assumption that the entity is a going concern and will 

continue its operations for the foreseeable future, defined as until December 31, 2023. The Executive Board is of the opinion that, based on the current 

state of affairs, it is justified that the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. 
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We have evaluated management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. In evaluating management’s assessment,  

we considered whether management’s assessment includes all relevant information of which we are aware as a result of the audit.

We have evaluated the Company’s going concern assessment and performed (amongst others) the following procedures:

	■ Analyzing and discussing cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts with management;

	■ Analyzing and discussing the entity’s latest available internal reportings;

	■ Reading the terms of debt covenants and determining whether any have been breached;

	■ Reading minutes of those charged with governance and relevant committees for reference to financing difficulties;

	■ Inquiring of the entity’s Legal Counsel regarding the existence of litigation and claims and the reasonableness of management’s assessments  

of their outcome and the estimate of their financial implications;

	■ Performing audit procedures regarding subsequent events to identify those that either mitigate or otherwise affect the entity’s ability to continue  

as a going concern;

	■ Obtaining and reviewing reports of regulatory actions;

	■ Determining the adequacy of support for any planned disposals of assets in so for relevant for the going concern;

	■ Discussion with component auditors about facts and circumstances which might be relevant for the going concern assessment at group level;

	■ Analyzing the Company’s assessment on the impact of the current market developments (i.e. supply chain constraints, semiconductor shortages, 

demand volatility and increasing raw material prices);

	■ Analyze the impact of the impairment with respect to the CGU Automotive Core.

Based on the procedure performed we concur with management’s evaluation.

 

Our key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have 

communicated the key audit matters to the Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In prior year, we included the valuation of goodwill, the general IT controls and group audit as separate key audit matters. These are also included  

in our 2022 report. 

Compared to last year we did not include a key audit matter for the purchase price allocation of the 3T acquisition. The purchase price allocation has 

been completed in 2021 and is therefore no longer a key audit matter. 
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1. General IT controls  

Description 

Kendrion has operations in different countries that use one groupwide 

Financial IT platform (excl. INTORQ and the 3T entities), which is located 

and maintained in Villingen, Germany. In the last couple of years, 

management has been in the process of establishing a formal IT control 

framework and further enhancing the internal controls surrounding the 

overall IT environment. We consider Kendrion’s IT landscape and general 

IT controls over financial reporting as our basis for designing audit 

procedures that are appropriate for our audit. We have included general IT 

controls as a key audit matter because the importance of these controls 

on the group’s control environment.

 

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit 

We have evaluated the Group’s relevant general IT controls, including 

standard processes and procedures. Our work consisted of assessing 

the main characteristics of the IT infrastructure and applications and  

of testing the relevant internal controls related to the infrastructure, 

applications and related processes. 

IT audit specialists have been deployed to assist us with testing  

the group’s general IT controls. 

 

Observation 

In 2022 management remediated the observations, as shared by us in 

previous years, in relation to the general IT controls. During 2022, next  

to design and implementation, we also tested operating effectiveness of 

the general IT Controls to determine whether the controls were working 

effectively throughout the entire year. Due to identified deficiencies we 

were not able to rely on the general IT controls for the audit of 2022.  

As a result we applied a substantive audit approach. 
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2. Goodwill impairment – Cash Generation Unit Kendrion Automotive Group  

Description 

Goodwill represents a significant part of the balance sheet and total 

equity.

During the capital markets day in September 2022 Kendrion 

announced that it would split its Business Group Automotive in two 

organizations, being Automotive Core and Automotive E. This split 

resulted also in 2 new CGUs, namely Automotive Core and 

Automotive E.

Due to the impact on climate change and as a consequence of 

various legislative initiatives, the automotive industry is transitioning 

from combustion engine vehicles to electric and hybrid vehicles. 

This transition results in a deterioration of the financial outlook of 

the now standalone Kendrion Automotive Core CGU. The 

deteriorated outlook of the separated CGU in combination with an 

increase in the WACC due to the increased interest rates has 

resulted in the recognition of a significant impairment charge. We 

have regarded the impairment charge due to its significance as a 

key audit matter.

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit 

Based on our materiality level, the requirements in IFRS and the applicable auditing standards, we have audited the impairment 

analysis including the impairment charge of the Kendrion Automotive Core CGU.

Our audit procedures have mainly focused on:

	■ Testing design and implementation of management’s process and control around the impairment analysis;

	■ Evaluating the impairment model used by the Company and verifying the mathematical accuracy of this model;

	■ Obtaining and evaluating independent market research reports and compared the general growth data to Kendrion’s 

expectations;

	■ Obtaining and evaluating the budget of 2023 and the midterm plan that are approved by the Supervisory Board;

	■ Assessment of the key assumptions in the impairment model and discuss the results thereof with the Business Group 

management, Executive Board and the Supervisory Board;

	■ Assessment of the management estimate in relation to the budget of prior years based on the actual financial results  

(back-testing);

	■ Assessment of the methodologies, calculated WACC and the long-term growth percentage, using internal valuation 

experts;

	■ Reconciling the revenue that was already contracted to underlying source documents (like signed contracts) and evaluated 

the expected pipeline;

	■ The accuracy and completeness of the related disclosures in the annual report;

	■ Performing sensitivity analysis based upon different scenarios with respect to the revenue developments, gross margin  

and WACC;

	■ Assessment of the allocation of the goodwill and other assets from the former Kendrion Automotive CGU to the carrying 

amounts of the Core and E CGU.

We have adopted a substantive audit approach and did not rely on internal controls.

Observation 

The impairment analysis of Kendrion resulted in impairment charge of EUR 57.1 million. Based on our procedures performed, 

we are of the opinion that the assumptions of management are appropriate at this point in time and that the impairment has 

been recognized accordingly. Not realizing the assumptions impacts the sensitivity as further analyzed and disclosed by 

Kendrion as part of disclosure note [2] in the annual report. We deem the related disclosures in the annual report to be 

sufficient.
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3. Group audit 

Description 

Kendrion is a global organization which operates in 9 countries and has 

20 different locations in Europe, the Americas and Asia. They also 

acquired companies with complementary technologies like INTORQ in 

2020 and 3T in 2021. Almost all revenue and result before net finance 

costs are generated outside the Netherlands and are audited by 

component auditors of the Deloitte network. The direction and oversight 

of the components is a substantial part of the audit of the consolidated 

financial statement. 

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit 

We have performed the following audit procedures:

	■ We performed audit procedures at group level in areas such as  

IFRS 16, share-based payments, consolidation, reporting, goodwill 

impairment testing and taxation. Specialists were involved, amongst 

others, in the areas of information technology, tax and valuation;

	■ At group level, we have performed audit procedures regarding  

the corporate entities and we also performed audit procedures  

on Kendrion (Shelby) Inc; 

	■ For all other relevant foreign components, the group audit team 

provided detailed written instructions. Furthermore, we developed a 

plan for overseeing each component audit team based on its relative 

significance to the Company and certain other risk characteristics. 

This included conference calls with component during all stages  

of the audit whereby fraud specialists accompanied the group 

engagement team at several preselected components, performing 

both remote and onsite file reviews, attending client meetings and 

reviewing component audit team deliverables in order to gain 

sufficient understanding of the work performed;

	■ As part of the interaction with the components we paid specific 

attention to the consistent application of the group accounting 

policies; 

	■ As part of our audit of the consolidation, we tested the relevant 

controls around the elimination of all intercompany transactions  

and positions and performed detailed substantive procedures.

 

Observation 

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, 

together with additional procedures at group level, we have been able  

to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s 

financial information to provide an opinion about the consolidated financial 

statements.

 

 

Annual Integrated Report 2022 197
OTHER INFORMATIONOTHER INFORMATION

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

Notes to the  
consolidated financial 

statements

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Report on the other information included in the Annual Report  

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contain other information.

The other information consists of:

	■ Report of the Executive Board;

	■ Report of the Supervisory Board;

	■ Remuneration Report;

	■ Other information as included in the report;

	■ Other Information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

	■ Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

	■ Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, 

we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope 

of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the report of the Executive Board.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements and ESEF

Engagement 

We were engaged by the supervisory board as auditor of Kendrion N.V. on April 13, 2015, as of the audit for the year 2015 and have operated  

as statutory auditor ever since that financial year.

 

No prohibited non-audit services 

We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit 

of public-interest entities.

 

European Single Electronic Reporting Format (ESEF) 

Kendrion N.V. has prepared its annual report in ESEF. The requirements for this are set out in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 with 

regard to regulatory technical standards on the specification of a single electronic reporting format (hereinafter: the RTS on ESEF).
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In our opinion, the annual report, prepared in XHTML-formaat, including the partially marked-up consolidated financial statements, as included in the 

reporting package by Kendrion N.V. complies in all material respects with the RTS on ESEF.

Management is responsible for preparing the annual report including the financial statements in accordance with the RTS on ESEF, whereby 

management combines the various components into a single reporting package.

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance for our opinion whether the annual report in this reporting package complies with the RTS on ESEF.

We performed our examination in accordance with Dutch law, including Dutch Standard 3950N ‘Assurance-opdrachten inzake het voldoen aan de 

criteria voor het opstellen van een digitaal verantwoordingsdocument’ (assurance engagements relating to compliance with criteria for digital reporting).

Our examination included amongst others:

	■ Obtaining an understanding of the company’s financial reporting process, including the preparation of the reporting package;

	■ Identifying and assessing the risks that the annual report does not comply in all material respects with the RTS on ESEF and designing and 

performing further assurance procedures responsive to those risks to provide a basis for our opinion, including:

	■ obtaining the reporting package and performing validations to determine whether the reporting package containing the Inline XBRL instance and 

the XBRL extension taxonomy files has been prepared in accordance with the technical specifications as included in the RTS on ESEF;

	■ Examining the information related to the consolidated financial statements in the reporting package to determine whether all required mark-ups 

have been applied and whether these are in accordance with the RTS on ESEF.

 

Description of responsibilities regarding the Financial Statements 

Responsibilities of management and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the 

Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the 

financial statements.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not detect all material errors and fraud during our 

audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our 

audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on 

Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included among others:

	■ Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing 

audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

	■ Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control;

	■ Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management;

	■ Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern;

	■ Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; 

	■ Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect 

we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of 

the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of 

financial information or specific items.
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We communicate with the Executive board & the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identified during our audit. In this respect we also submit an 

additional report to the audit committee in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-

interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor’s report. 

We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit matters: those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 

or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest. 

 

Eindhoven, February 28, 2023

 

Deloitte Accountants B.V.		  Initial for identification purposes: 

 

B. Beemer 
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Limited Assurance Report of the Independent Auditor on Kendrion N.V.’s sustainabilty information

To the Shareholders and Supervisory Board of Kendrion N.V. 

 
Our conclusion 

We have reviewed the sustainability information  in the accompanying  annual report  for year 2022 of Kendrion N.V. at Amsterdam.  This review is 

aimed at obtaining a limited level of assurance.

Based on the review procedures performed nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the sustainability information for year 2022 

has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the reporting criteria as included in the section ‘reporting criteria’.

The sustainability information consists of performance information regarding Energy consumption and CO2-emission, Accidents and Lost Time Injuries, 

Illness rate and Number of Supplier audits in the sections ‘Facts and Figures’ on page 10 and ‘Sustainability’ on pages 37 – 61 of the 2022 Annual 

Report (hereafter: “the KPIs”).

Our limited assurance scope excludes the EU Taxonomy disclosures included in chapter ‘Sustainability’ in the 2022 Annual Report (pages 51-55).

 

Basis for our conclusion 

We have conducted our review of the sustainability information in accordance with Dutch law, including Dutch Standard 3000A ‘Assurance 

Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’. Our responsibilities under this standard are further described in  

the section ‘Our responsibilities for the review of the sustainability information’ of our report.

We are independent of Kendrion N.V. in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’  

(ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence). This includes that we do not perform any activities that 

could result in a conflict of interest with our independent assurance engagement.  Furthermore we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en 

beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch code of ethics). 

We believe that the assurance evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

 

Reporting criteria 

The sustainability information needs to be read and understood together with the reporting criteria. Kendrion N.V. is solely responsible for selecting  

and applying these reporting criteria, taking into account applicable law and regulations related to reporting. 

The reporting criteria used for the preparation of the sustainability information are disclosed in the chapter ‘About the Sustainability Report’ of the 2022 

Annual Report, where Kendrion reports according to the GRI reference claim.
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The absence of an established practice on which to draw, to evaluate and measure non-financial information allows for different, but acceptable, 

measurement techniques and can affect comparability between entities and over time.

Consequently, the sustainability information needs to be read and understood together with the reporting criteria used. 

Limitations to the scope of our review 

The sustainability information includes prospective information such as ambitions, strategy, plans, expectations and estimates. 

The references to external sources or websites in the sustainability information are not part of the sustainability information as reviewed by us.  

We therefore do not provide assurance on this information.

Our conclusion is not modified in respect to these matters.

 

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the sustainability information 

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of reliable and adequate  sustainability information in accordance with these reporting criteria as 

included in the section ‘reporting criteria’, including the identification of stakeholders and the definition of material matters. The Executive Board is also 

responsible for selecting and applying the reporting criteria and for determining that these reporting criteria are suitable for the legitimate information 

needs of stakeholders, taking into account applicable law and regulations related to reporting.  The choices made by the Executive Board regarding  

the scope of the sustainability information and the reporting policy are summarised in the ‘About the Sustainability Report’ of the annual report. 

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the sustainability 

information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the sustainability reporting process of Kendrion N.V.

 

Our responsibilities for the review of the sustainability information 

Our responsibility is to plan and perform the review engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate assurance evidence  

for our conclusion.

Procedures performed to obtain a limited level of assurance are aimed to determine the plausibility of information and vary in nature and timing from, 

and are less in extent, than for a reasonable assurance engagement. The level of assurance obtained in review is therefore substantially less than  

the assurance obtained in an audit.
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We apply the ‘Nadere voorschriften kwaliteitssystemen’ (NVKS, Regulations for Quality management systems) and accordingly maintain a 

comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

Our review included among others :

	■ Performing an analysis of the external environment and obtaining an understanding of relevant sustainability themes and issues, and the 

characteristics of Kendrion N.V.;

	■ Evaluating the appropriateness of the reporting criteria used, their consistent application and related disclosures in the sustainability information.  

This includes the evaluation of the results of the stakeholders’ dialogue and the reasonableness of estimates made by the Executive Board;

	■ Obtaining through inquiries a general understanding of control environment, processes and information systems relevant to the preparation  

of the sustainability information, but did not obtain evidence about their implementation or test their operating effectiveness;

	■ Identifying areas of the sustainability information with a higher risk of misleading or unbalanced information or material misstatements, whether due 

to fraud or error; 

	■ 	Designing and performing further assurance procedures aimed at determining the plausibility of the sustainability information responsive to this risk 

analysis. These procedures consisted amongst others of:

–	� Interviewing management (and/or relevant staff) at corporate (and business/division/cluster/local) level responsible for the sustainability strategy, 

policy and results;

–	� Interviewing relevant staff responsible for providing the information for, carrying out internal control procedures on, and consolidating the data  

in the sustainability information; 

–	 Obtaining assurance evidence that the sustainability information reconciles with underlying records of the Kendrion N.V.;

–	 Reviewing, on a limited test basis, relevant internal and external documentation; 

–	 Performing an analytical review of the data and trends;

	■ Evaluating the overall presentation and content of the sustainability information;

	■ Considering whether the sustainability information as a whole, including the disclosures, reflects the purpose of the reporting criteria used.

 

We communicate with the Supervisory Board  regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the review and significant findings that 

we identify during our review.

 

Amsterdam, February 28, 2023

 

Deloitte Accountants B.V. 

 

 

B. Beemer  
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY  
KENDRION N.V. CONSOLIDATED	

1 	 Non-IFRS financial measure. For the definition and 

reconciliation of the most directly comparable IFRS 

measures in 2021 and 2022, refer to reconciliation of non-

IFRS information, starting on page 210. Normalized results 

2020 exclude EUR 3.8 million restructuring costs,  

EUR 0.6 million acquisition costs and 0.8 million finance 

and tax expense related to German tax audit. Normalized 

results 2019 exclude EUR 2.9 million restructuring costs, 

EUR 1.6 million claim settlement, EUR 1.2 million 

acquisition costs, EUR 0.4 million tax from German tax 

audit and a EUR 1.9 million net finance expense gain from 

currency translation. Normalized results 2018 exclude 

restructuring costs of EUR 8.8 million and EUR 2.3 million 

tax and finance expense from German tax audit.		

					   
2 	 Excluding accruals and provisions related to items that 

have been normalized from the results.			 

				  
3 	 Invested capital is property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets, other investments and net working 

capital less goodwill and other intangibles related to 

acquisitions.					   

					   
4 	 Restated due to retrospective correction of understated 

elimination of unrealized profit on inventory transactions 

between group companies as per 1 January 2020.		

					   

EUR million, unless otherwise stated 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

Results

Revenue  519.3  463.6  396.4  412.4  448.6 

Organic growth 8.2% 16.1% (16.7%) (8.1%) (2.9%)

Normalized EBITDA1  57.4  55.8  44.6  43.8  58.5 

Normalized EBITA1  34.1  31.9  18.9  19.8  35.4 

Normalized profit before amortization1  21.7  20.6  11.7  12.6  24.3 

Free cash flow1  3.1  3.5  31.5  25.5  10.5 

Statement of financial position 

Total assets  476.6  490.8  429.1  357.1  375.3 

Total equity  175.0  223.0  203.4  202.6  182.1 

Net debt  140.3  130.6  103.2  47.4  80.5 

Net working capital2  68.5  64.9  41.4  42.9  51.4 

Invested capital2, 3  217.8  205.2  174.4  169.6  179.6 

Ratios 

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue1 11.1% 12.0% 11.3% 10.6% 13.0%

Solvency 36.7% 45.4% 47.4% 56.7% 48.5%

Net debt / EBITDA1 (leverage ratio)  2.4  2.3  2.3  1.1  1.4 

Return on Investment (ROI)1, 2, 3 15.6% 15.6% 10.8% 11.7% 19.7%

Working capital2 in % of revenue1 13.2% 14.0% 10.4% 10.4% 11.5%

Dividend paid per share (in EUR)  0.69  0.40 –   0.87  0.87 

Number of employees at 31 December (FTE) 2,753 2,728 2,456 2,316 2,465

4
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Industrial

Industrial Actuators and Controls (Robert Lewin) Managing Director 

Kendrion (Donaueschingen/Engelswies) GmbH, Donaueschingen, Germany Robert Lewin 

Kendrion (China) Co. Ltd, Suzhou, P.R. China Telly Kuo 

Kendrion (Mishawaka) LLC, Mishawaka, USA Corey Hurcomb 

Kendrion Industrial (Sibiu) S.R.L., Sibiu, Romania Mihai Petculescu 

Kendrion (Linz) GmbH, Linz, Austria Christian Edelmaier 

Kendrion Kuhnke Automation GmbH, Malente, Germany Robert Lewin 

Kendrion Kuhnke (Sweden) AB, Kristianstad, Sweden Niklas Sjöström 

3T B.V., Enschede, the Netherlands Norbert Beltman/Michiel Bloemen 

Industrial Brakes (Andreas Laschet) Managing Director 

Kendrion (Villingen) GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen, Germany Ralf Wieland 

Kendrion (China) Co. Ltd, Suzhou, P.R. China Telly Kuo 

Kendrion (Mishawaka) LLC, Mishawaka, USA Corey Hurcomb 

Kendrion INTORQ GmbH, Aerzen, Germany Lars Knoke 

INTORQ (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai, China Telly Kuo 

INTORQ US Inc., Atlanta, USA Olaf Detlef 

INTORQ India Private Limited, Pune, India Aniket Gujrathi 

Automotive (Ralf Wieland / Richard Mijnheer) Managing Director 

Kendrion (Villingen) GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen, Germany Ralf Wieland 

Kendrion Kuhnke Automotive GmbH, Malente, Germany Olaf Klinghagen 

Kendrion (Markdorf) GmbH, Markdorf, Germany Manfred Schlett 

Kendrion Automotive (Sibiu) S.R.L, Sibiu, Romania Andra Boboc 

Kendrion (Prostějov) s.r.o, Prostějov, Czech Republic Tomas Soldan 

Kendrion (Shelby) Inc., Shelby, USA Ingo Griessmann 

Kendrion (China) Co. Ltd, Suzhou, P.R. China Telly Kuo 

 

Kendrion N.V. has, directly or indirectly, a 100% interest in all subsidiaries.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 

At 31 December 2022
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Blasio Grundstückverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh & Co Vermietungs KG, Mainz, Germany 

Combattant Holding B.V., De Bilt, the Netherlands 

Kendrion (Eibiswald) GmbH, Eibiswald, Austria 

INTORQ Beteiligungs GmbH, Aerzen, Germany 

Kendrion FAS Controls Holding GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen, Germany 

Kendrion Finance B.V., Zeist, the Netherlands 

Kendrion Holding Germany GmbH, Markdorf, Germany 

Kendrion Holding USA Inc., Indianapolis, USA 

Kendrion IP Management GmbH, Malente, Germany 

Kendrion Kuhnke GmbH, Malente, Germany 

Kendrion Marketing B.V., Zeist, the Netherlands 

Kendrion Toluca, SA de CV, Mexicaltzingo, Mexico 

Kendrion (UK) Ltd., Bradford, United Kingdom 

Landfort I B.V., Zeist, the Netherlands 

Landfort II B.V., Zeist, the Netherlands 

Ochrea Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh & Co Vermietungs KG, Mainz, Germany 

Twente Technology Solutions B.V., Enschede, the Netherlands (in liquidiation) 

 

 Kendrion N.V. has, directly or indirectly, a 100% interest in all subsidiaries.

OTHER HOLDING AND DORMANT ENTITIES 

At 31 December 2022
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GLOSSARY – DEFINITIONS OF NON IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

Added value is a non-IFRS financial measure, which is defined 

as total revenue and other income plus changes in inventory  

of finished goods and work in progress and subtracted by raw 

materials and subcontracted work. Added value is a measure 

of the group’s ability to generate a variable profit contribution on 

its revenue that is sufficient to absorb the total staff and other 

operating expenses. It is an important factor is assessing to 

what extent increasing or decreasing revenue volumes will 

contribute to the group’s profit. 

 

EBITA is a non IFRS financial measure, which is defined as 

profit for the period before income tax expense, finance 

income, finance expense, share of profit or loss of an associate 

and amortization of other intangible fixed assets. EBITA is a 

measure of the group’s ability to realize a positive return on the 

group’s operations and continue to provide shareholder returns. 

 

EBITDA is a non IFRS financial measure which is defined  

as profit for the period before income tax expense, finance 

income, finance expense, share of profit or loss of an associate, 

depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure of the 

group’s ability to continue to invest in the group’s operations 

and provide shareholder returns. 

 

Free cash flow is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined 

as cash from operating activities less cash from investing 

activities. Free cash flow is a measure of cash flow which is 

available for repayment of outstanding interest-bearing debt or 

dividend to the shareholders. 

 

Invested capital is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined 

as the sum of property plant and equipment, intangible assets, 

other fixed assets and net working capital. Invested capital is  

a measure to assess the amount of equity and interest-bearing 

debt the company has invested in assets and is an important 

measure for investors to assess how well a company is using 

its financial resources to generate shareholder returns. Invested 

capital is a measure widely used by investors and security 

analysts to evaluate a group’s profitability relative to other 

investment opportunities. 

 

Leverage ratio is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined 

as net debt divided by EBITDA. The leverage ratio is a measure 

to evaluate the credit worthiness of the group and the ability  

of the group to continue to fund its operations with debt.  

The leverage ratio is widely used by investors, analysts, lenders 

and others to assess the groups credit worthiness in 

comparison to other industrial and automotive manufacturing 

companies and in relation to the financial covenant agreed in 

the group’s financing arrangement which its main lenders. 

 

Net debt is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined as 

bank overdraft, current and non-current loans and borrowings 

subtracted by cash and cash equivalents. Net debt is a 

measure in determining the group’s financial position.  

In comparison to the available credit facilities, the total net debt 

is an important factor in assessing the group’s liquidity and in 

combination which the group’s EBITDA, the net debt is an 

important factor in determining the group’s credit worthiness 

and ability to fund future investments. 

 

Normalized EBITA is non IFRS financial measures, which is 

defined as EBITA before restructuring expense and other 

adjustments not related to the group’s normal course of 

business including but not limited to gains or losses on 

divestitures, transaction costs related to business combinations 

and impairments. Normalized EBITA is a measure of the group’s 

ability to realize a positive return on the core operations and 

continue to provide shareholder returns. We use normalized 

EBITA in assessing the effectiveness of business strategies.  

In addition to its use by management, we also believe 

normalized EBITA is a measure widely used by securities 

analysts, investors and others to evaluate financial performance 

of the group relative to other industrial and automotive suppliers. 

 

Normalized EBITDA is a non IFRS financial measure which is 

defined as EBITDA before restructuring expense and other 

adjustments not related to the group’s normal course of 

business including but not limited to gains or losses on 

divestitures, transaction costs related to business combinations 

and impairments. Normalized EBITDA is a measure of the 

group’s ability to continue to invest in the operations and provide 

shareholder returns based on the core operations. We use 

normalized EBITDA in assessing the effectiveness of business 

strategies, evaluating and pricing potential acquisitions and as  

a factor in management incentive decisions. In addition to its 

use by management, we also believe normalized EBITDA is a 

measure widely used by securities analysts, investors and others 

to evaluate financial performance of the group relative to other 

industrial and automotive suppliers. 

 

Normalized effective tax rate is a non IFRS measure that is 

defined as reported income tax expenses before adjustments 

not related to the group’s normal course of business, including 

but not limited to income tax expense on restructuring costs 

and impairments, divided by normalized profit before tax which 

is defined as profit before tax before adjustments not related to 

core operations, including but not limited to restructuring costs 

and impairments. Normalized effective tax rate is used to assess 

the group’s tax expense in relation to the profit before tax from 

its core activities. The normalized effective tax rate is used to 

evaluate the effective tax rate relative to previous periods and 

other companies.

 

Normalized free cash flow is a non IFRS financial measure that  

is defined as free cash flow before cash flow related to 

restructuring expense and other adjustments that are not related 

to the group’s core operations, including but not limited to 
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acquisitions and divestitures. Normalized free cash flow is  

a measure of cash flow from the group’s core activities which is 

available for repayment of outstanding interest-bearing debt or 

dividend to the shareholders. We use normalized free cash flow 

as a factor in management incentive decisions. In addition to its 

use by management, we also believe normalized free cash flow 

is a measure widely used by securities analysts and investors 

and others to evaluate the value of the group. 

 

Normalized invested capital is a non IFRS measure that is 

defined as invested capital adjusted for items in the statement 

of financial position that are considered not to be part of the 

group’s normal course of business, including but not limited  

to provisions or liabilities related to restructurings. Normalized 

invested capital is used to assess the return the company 

generates on the amount the company has invested in assets 

related to its core operations and is a measure for investors  

to assess how well a company is using its financial resources  

to generate shareholder returns. 

 

Normalized interest charges is a non IFRS measure that is 

defined as financing costs before adjustments not related to  

the group’s normal course of business including but not limited 

to gains or losses on the recycling of currency translation 

results previously recorded in equity upon the liquidation of  

a legal entity. Normalized interest charges is used to assess  

the amount of net financing costs recognized related to the 

core operations of the group. Normalized interest charges is 

used to be able to compare interest charges to previous 

reporting periods and other companies. 

 

Normalized net profit before amortization is a non IFRS 

measure that is defined as profit for the period before 

amortization and restructuring expense and other adjustments 

not related to the group’s core operations including but not 

limited to gains or losses on divestitures, transaction costs 

related to business combinations and impairments. Normalized 

net profit before amortization is a measure of the group’s ability 

to realize a positive return on core operations and continue to 

provide shareholder returns when excluding any profit impact 

from amortizing intangibles arising from business combinations. 

The measure is used by management, investors and security 

analysts in order to evaluate the shareholder return relative to 

companies that do not include business combinations. 

 

Normalized staff and other operating expense is a non IFRS 

measure that is defined as operating expense before 

restructuring expense and other adjustments not related to  

the group’s normal course of business including but not limited 

to gains or losses on divestitures, transaction costs related to 

business combinations and impairments. Normalized operating 

expense is used to assess the amount of operating expense 

recognized related to the core operations of the group. 

Normalized operating expense is used to be able to evaluate 

expenses to previous reporting periods and other companies. 

 

Normalized working capital is a non IFRS measure that is 

defined as working capital adjusted for items in the statement 

of financial position that are considered not to be part of the 

group’s core operations, including but not limited to provisions 

or liabilities related to restructurings. Normalized working capital 

is used to assess the amount of cash the company has 

invested in short term and non-interest-bearing assets and 

liabilities in order to run its core operations. 

 

Organic growth is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined  

as revenue in the period under review divided by the revenue  

in the previous period, excluding revenue that is attributable  

to a business combination in one of both periods and/or  

the revenue contribution that attributable to a divestiture in one 

of both periods. Organic growth is a measure to which extent 

the group has been able to increase its revenue compared to 

the previous period on a comparable basis and therefore 

excluding the impact from acquisitions. Organic growth is  

one of the groups long term financial targets. We use organic 

growth in assessing the effectiveness of business strategies. 

In addition to its use by management, we also believe organic 

growth is a measure widely used by securities analysts, 

investors and others to evaluate the success of the company’s 

commercial strategies and effectiveness relative to other 

industrial and automotive suppliers. 

 

ROI or Return On Invested Capital is a non IFRS financial 

measure that is defined as EBITA dividend by the sum of 

property plant and equipment, intangible assets, other fixed 

assets and net working capital subtracted with the amount  

of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business 

combinations. ROIC is a measure that assesses the result from 

operations is generated per currency equivalent that the group 

has invested in property plant and equipment and other net 

assets that are part of the group’s operations. ROIC is an 

important factor in assessing relative profitability and used as  

a factor in management incentive decisions. Besides the use by 

management, we believe ROIC is widely use by investors and 

securities analysts to assess the performance of the group in 

comparison to other manufacturing companies or alternative 

investment propositions. 

 

Solvency is a non IFRS financial measure that is defined as total 

equity divided by the sum of total equity and total liabilities. 

Solvency is a measure that assesses the portion of the total 

assets that is funded by equity. We use solvency as a measure 

of financial position and credit worthiness. In addition to its use 

by management we believe solvency is a measure widely use 

by lenders and analysts to evaluate the credit worthiness of  

the group. 
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RECONCILIATION OF NON IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 

Measures related to the statement of profit and loss 
 
Organic growth (revenue) 

EUR million - unless stated otherwise 2022 2021 

Reported revenue 519.3  464.0  

Exclude: revenue from acquired businesses - 3T/TTS (12.2)  (3.4)  

Exclude: currency effects on revenue and normalizations (9.2)  (0.4) 

Normalized revenue (excl. M&A and currency effects) 497.9  460.2  

Organic growth 8.2% 16.1%

Added value 

EUR million 2022 2021 

Reported total revenue and other income 519.8  464.2  

less: Reported Changes in inventories of finished goods and  

work in progress (1.8)  3.5  

less: Reported raw materials and subcontracted work (268.7)  (241.9) 

Added value 249.3  225.8  

Added value margin % 48.1% 48.3% 

Normalized staff and other operating expenses

EUR million 2022 2021 

Reported Staff costs 153.6  138.1  

Reported other operating expenses 43.6  32.5  

Reported staff and other operating expenses 197.2  170.6  

Normalization of restructuring charges (5.9)  (1.5 )

Normalization of other (costs) and benefits outside the normal 

course of business – 0.8

Normalized staff and other operating expenses 191.3 169.9

Effects of acquired businesses – 3T/TTS (8.2) (2.1)

Currency effects (4.3) –

Normalized staff and other operating expenses  

(excl M&A and currency effects) 178.8 167.8

Bridge from EBITDA to normalized net profit before amortization  
EUR million 2022 2021 

Reported result before net finance costs (34.6)  23.9  

Reported depreciation and amortization 28.0  27.8  

Reported operating result before depreciation & 

amortization (EBITDA) (6.6)  51.7 

less: Depreciation on PP&E (20.9)  (21.0) 

less: Amortization on non-PPA related intangibles  (2.4)  (2.9) 

Reported operating result before amortization (EBITA) (29.9)  27.8  

Normalization of costs and (benefits) related to:

Restructuring measures - Automotive 5.1  0.4 

Restructuring measures - Industrial 0.3  1.1 

Impairments Goodwill and other intangibles - Automotive 57.3  –  

Impairments PP&E - Automotive 1.0  3.4 

Impairments PP&E - Industrial 0.3  –  

Other costs / (benefits) outside the normal course of business - 

Automotive –  (1.2)

Other costs / (benefits) outside the normal course of business - 

Industrial –  0.5 

Total Normalizations  64.0 4.1 

Normalized EBITDA  57.4  55.8  

Normalized EBITDA margin % 11.1% 12.0% 

Normalized EBITA 34.1   31.9  

Normalized EBITA margin % 6.6% 6.9% 

Reported amortisation on PPA related intangibles (4.7)  (3.9)

Reported net finance costs (5.1)  (3.8)

Normalization related to credit facility 0.5  –  

Other normalizations of net finance costs 0.2  (0.0)

Normalized profit before income tax 25.0  24.2 
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EUR million 2022 2021 

Reported income tax expense (6.6)  (5.7) 

Normalization related to tax audits 0.5  0.4  

Normalization related to deferred income tax adjustment 1.2  –  

Impact costs / (benefits) outside the normal course of business 

on income tax expense (1.9)  (1.2) 

Amortization after tax 3.5  2.9  

Normalized net profit for the period before amortization 21.7   20.6 

Measures related to the Statement of financial position  
 

Invested capital at 31 December  

EUR million 2022 2021 

Property, plant and equipment 131.6  121.9  

 

Intangible assets 126.5 183.4 

Net working capital 65.7 61.7 

Other fixed assets 0.7  0.9  

Invested capital  324.5 367.9 

Goodwill and other intangibles related to acquisitions (111.2) (171.2) 

Operating invested capital  213.3 196.7 

Impact costs / (benefits) outside the normal course of business 

on invested capital 4.5  8.5  

Normalized invested capital   217.8 205.2 

Net Debt & Leverage ratio 

EUR million - unless stated otherwise 2022 2021 

Total interest bearing loans 178.1  149.2  

less: Cash and cash equivalents (37.8)  (18.6) 

Net Debt  140.3   130.6  

Normalized EBITDA  57.4   55.8  

Leverage ratio (Net Debt / Normalized EBITDA) 2.4 2.3 

Net working capital at 31 December 

EUR million 2022 2021 

Inventories 85.1  79.7  

Trade and other receivables, tax receivable 75.2  68.0  

Less: Trade and other payables, tax payables, current 

provisions and assets clasified as held for sale (94.6) (86.0) 

Net working capital 65.7 61.7 

Impact one-off costs and benefits on working capital 2.8  3.2  

Normalized working capital  68.5 64.9 

As % of revenue 13.2% 14.0%

Measures related to the Statement of cash flows 

Free cash flow 

EUR million 2022  2021 

Net cash flow from operating activities 37.9  27.8 

Net cash flow from investing activities (37.9)  (48.8)

Free cash flow 0.0  (21.0)

Normalizations 3.1 24.5

Normalized free cash flow 3.1  3.5

Annual Integrated Report 2022 211
RECONCILIATION OF NON IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

Home
Consolidated  
statement of  

financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income

Consolidated  
statement of  

changes in equity

Consolidated  
statement  

of cash flows

Notes to the  
consolidated financial 

statements

Notes to the  
company financial 

statements

Company 
balance  
sheet

Company  
income  

statement



Ratios  
 

Return on Investment % (ROI) 

EUR million - unless stated otherwise 2022 2021 

Normalized EBITA 34.1  31.9  

Normalized Invested capital 217.8  205.2  

Return on Investment % (ROI) 15.6% 15.6% 

Solvency 

EUR million - unless stated otherwise 2022 2021 

Total equity 175.0  223.0  

Total assets  476.6  490.8  

Solvency % 36.7% 45.4% 

Normalized effective tax rate 

EUR million - unless stated otherwise 2022 2021 

Reported income tax expense (6.6)  (5.7) 

Normalization related to tax audits 0.5  0.4  

Normalization related to deferred income tax adjustment 1.2  –  

Impact costs / (benefits) outside the normal course of business 

on income tax expense (1.9)  (1.2) 

Normalized income tax expense (6.8)  (6.5) 

Normalized profit before tax 25.0 24.2 

Normalized effective tax rate % 27.4% 26.8% 
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ABOUT THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 

The scope of Kendrion’s sustainability or non-financial reporting 

is based on the information requirements of our key stakeholder 

groups. 

In order to ensure that Kendrion meets its information 

requirements towards its stakeholders, Kendrion performs a 

materiality analysis at regular intervals. Kendrion commissioned 

the performance of a materiality assessment in 2020. Together 

with a specialized consultancy firm, a tailored approach was 

developed to assess materiality and the results of the internal 

and external stakeholder consultation. The 2020 materiality 

assessment did not reveal significant movements in the ranking 

of individual themes compared to the assessment of 2018.  

The outcome of the 2018 and 2020 materiality analyses both 

formed an important input for Kendrion’s sustainability program 

and the 2019-2023 target framework as well as the further 

development and execution thereof. In support of the 

development of a sustainability target framework for the period 

2024-2028, a new materiality assessment will be prepared. 

Kendrion selected relevant material themes and topics derived 

from Kendrion’s strategic plan, its activities and applicable laws 

and regulations. For a description of our materiality analysis, 

please refer to pages 39-40 of this Annual Integrated Report. 

Kendrion makes use of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 

reference claims for most of the general information and 

material topics, including: economic performance, anti-

corruption, energy efficiency, emissions to air, occupational 

safety and health and non-discrimination and equal 

opportunities. This Annual Integrated Report references 

Disclosure 201-1 (a) from GRI 201: Economic performance 

2016, Disclosure 205-3 from GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016, 

Disclosure 302-1 (a, c, e-g) from GRI 302: Energy 2016, 

Disclosure 305-1 (a, d, f-g) from GRI 305: Emissions 2016, 

Disclosure 305-2 (a, d, f-g) from GRI 305: Emissions 2016, 

Disclosure 403-9 (a, d-g) from GRI 403: Occupational Health 

and Safety 2018, Disclosure 405-1 (a-i, b-i) from GRI 405: 

Diversity and Equal Opportunities 2016. For the material 

themes ‘responsible procurement practices’ and ‘training and 

education’, Kendrion has developed its own indicators. 

Kendrion’s non-financial reporting includes only data from 

entities that are – directly or indirectly – wholly owned by 

Kendrion N.V., unless explicitly stated otherwise. Acquisitions 

are reported as from the effective date ownership is acquired. 

Being transparent and accountable is fundamental to the way 

in which Kendrion operates. Kendrion adheres to a solid 

validation and reporting process supported by an appropriate 

control framework in order to safeguard the quality and 

accuracy of data collected. With a view to maintain the quality 

and consistency of the data reported, the reporting process 

and applicable definitions relevant to all non-financial data 

collected and subsequently consolidated, are recorded in an 

internal reporting manual which is regularly reviewed and 

evaluated (last update 2022). Internal control procedures 

safeguarding the quality and accuracy of non-financial data 

collected are part of Kendrion’s Risk Management Framework. 

Compliance with the internal reporting manual and the internal 

control procedures are reviewed by the Global Internal Audit 

and Risk Manager. 

The sustainability figures and data presented in this Annual 

Integrated Report are not always fully comparable with those of 

other companies. This may be caused by differences in targets 

and definitions applied and the nature and spread of Kendrion’s 

activities making comparison with other industrial companies 

difficult. Information used was collected from the existing 

management and reporting systems. Any estimates or 

forecasts included are explicitly referred to as such. 

During 2022 Kendrion closed its production location in 

Eibiswald (Austria) and moved relevant production equipment 

to Villingen (Germany) and Sibiu (Romania). For 2022 the 

production location in Eibiswald was still included in the non-

financial reporting, although production in Eibiswald ceased  

in the course of Q3 2022.

The non-financial information reported faithfully represents  

the outcome of systematic data collection and review. 

The reported numbers for energy consumption, absolute and 

relative & CO2 emissions, accidents, lost time injury, illness, 

supply chain management as described in the section 

‘Sustainability’ on pages 37-61, have been subjected to a 

review by the external auditor Deloitte Accountants B.V. The 

auditor’s report with limited assurance on selected targets is 

included on pages 202-204.

For the reported numbers associated with relative energy 

consumption, relative CO2 emission, accidents per 1,000 FTE, 

Lost Time Injuries (LTI), illness rate and audits performed at 

direct suppliers, Kendrion used the GRI Standards Specific 

Disclosures 302-1, 305-1, 305-2 and 403-2 respectively as 

described in the GRI referenced claim mentioned above.  

We report on the same indicators as in previous years and 

there are no material restatements on the information 

accordingly presented in previous years.

 

Definitions, reporting period and scope 
Energy consumption and CO2 emission 

The information on energy consumption is based on the 

consumption of Kendrion’s production facilities (electricity, 

natural gas, fuel oil) in Germany, the Czech Republic, Austria, 

the USA, China, India and Romania. For greenhouse gas 

emissions, Kendrion applies the same reporting scope as for 

energy consumption, only operational control. In our 

calculations we only included CO2 emissions, other emissions 
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like CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6 and NF3 are not material for 

us and therefore not included. Internal and external transport 

under Kendrion’s control is limited, therefore transport 

emissions are excluded.

The relative energy consumption and CO2 emissions are  

based on the added value of the relevant production facilities.  

The added value is the revenue plus other income, minus the 

changes in inventory and work in progress and minus raw 

materials and subcontracted work.

The absolute and relative energy consumption and CO2 

emissions are reported for a 12-month period. Where 

information is timely available, the absolute and relative energy 

consumption and CO2 emissions are reported for the period  

1 January 2022 up to and including 31 December 2022. 

Comparative figures for previous years are calculated based  

on identical timeframes. 

Calculation of the CO2 emissions is based on the following 

conversion factors:

	■ Electricity generated from renewable sources: 0

	■ Electricity generated from non-renewable sources 

(average): 0.391 kg/kWh (2021: 0.416 kg/kWh)

	■ Renewable gas for plants with carbon neutral contracts: 0

	■ Natural gas for other plants (average): 0.112 kg/kWh  

(2021: 0.105 kg/kWh)

	■ Fuel oil (average): 0.206 kg/kWh (2021: 0.204 kg/kWh)

Accidents and LTI  

Kendrion reports the total number of work-related accidents 

during working time or on the way to or from work for its own 

employees and independent contractors under supervision of 

Kendrion. Only the accidents that the group entity had to report 

to an external institution are reported. As of 2017, Kendrion 

reports accidents from all group entities that caused an 

absence of more than three calendar days, not including the 

day of the accident. This definition is based on regulations 

applicable in Germany. In addition, Kendrion reports the 

absence resulting from work-related accidents. The Lost Time 

Injury (LTI) is time (‘scheduled working days’) that could not be 

worked (and is thus ‘lost’) as a consequence of an employee 

being unable to perform the usual work due to an occupational 

accident (‘at work accident’ as well as ‘way-to-work accident’) 

or disease. Kendrion makes no difference in whether the 

salaries or wages were paid by Kendrion or by an external 

institution during that time.

A return to limited duty or alternative work for the same 

organization does not count as ‘lost days’. Counting of ‘lost 

days’ begins with the first scheduled working day of full

absence (e.g. the day after the accident). A lost day counts as 

one full day regardless of whether the employee has a part-time 

or a full-time contract. Kendrion does not specify LTI data per 

region, worker type or gender as Kendrion considers this 

information not relevant to its current operations. 

 

Illness rate 

The reported illness rate is based on the total illness hours.  

The locations in Shelby and Atlanta reported 0% illness on a 

yearly basis since no registration of illness takes place. The total 

illness hours with and without wage continuation, cumulative 

divided by the total timetable hours, cumulative. 

 

Supplier audits 

As mentioned above, for reporting on the number of supplier 

audits (i.e. ‘responsible procurement practices’) Kendrion 

makes use of its own indicator. The supplier audits are internal 

audits by Kendrion employees based on an internal procedure 

that prescribes the collection of Corporate Responsibility 

documentation (e.g. Code of Conduct, ABC Policy, Whistle-

blower procedure) of the relevant supplier in the case the 

supplier is ISO certified and the use of standardized self-

assessment questionnaires in the case the supplier is not ISO 

certified. 

Kendrion has not selected underlying performance indicators or 

GRI indicators for the following topics: ‘non-discrimination and 

equal opportunities’, ‘market presence’, ‘responsible material 

consumption’, ‘environmental & energy management’, ‘human 

rights’, ‘effluents and waste management’, ‘customer privacy 

and data security’, ‘anti-competitive behavior’, ‘biodiversity’, 

‘responsible local citizenship’, ‘innovation’, ‘customer 

relationship and satisfaction’, ‘remuneration policy’ and 

‘business ethics’. Following further engagement with Kendrion’s 

stakeholders in the course of 2022, Kendrion will consider to 

what extent these material themes continue to be relevant to 

stakeholders and whether indicators on these topics should be 

developed.
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